Document of

# The World Bank FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

Report No: PP3205

PROJECT PAPER

ON A

**PROPOSED GRANT** 

IN THE AMOUNT OF US\$ 4.50 MILLION FROM THE STRATEGIC CLIMATE FUND

TO

CARE INTERNATIONAL

FOR A

DEDICATED GRANT MECHANISM FOR COTE D'IVOIRE

**DECEMBER 11, 2019** 

Environment & Natural Resources Global Practice Africa Region

This document has a restricted distribution and may be used by recipients only in the performance of their official duties. Its contents may not otherwise be disclosed without World Bank authorization.

# **CURRENCY EQUIVALENTS**

(Exchange Rate Effective December 8, 2019)

Currency Unit = FCFA

FCFA589.39 = US\$1

US\$ = SDR 1

FISCAL YEAR
January 1 - December 31

Regional Vice President: Hafez M. H. Ghanem

Country Director: Coralie Gevers

Senior Global Practice Director: Karin Erika Kemper

Practice Manager: Maria Sarraf

Task Team Leader(s): Salimata D. Follea

#### ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AFD French Development Agency
AfDB African Development Bank

ANADER Rural Development Agency (Côte d'Ivoire)

AWPB Annual Work Program and Budget

B/C Ratio Benefit Cost Ratio

BNETD National Bureau of Technical Studies and Development (Bureau National

d'Études Techniques et de Développement)

CPF Country Partnership Framework

DA Designated Account

DFIL Disbursement and Financial Information Letter

DGM Dedicated Grant Mechanism

ESMF Environmental and Social Management Framework

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization

FAP Forest Action Plan

FCPF Forest Carbon Partnership Facility

FI Financial Intermediary
FIP Forest Investment Program
FM Financial Management
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GEA Global Executing Agency

GF Gazetted Forests (Forêts Classées)

GHG Greenhouse Gas

GoCl Government of Côte d'Ivoire

GRM Grievance and Redress Mechanism

GRS Grievance Redress Service
GSC Global Steering Committee
HDI Human Development Index

IDA International Development Association

IFR Interim Financial Report
IMF International Monetary Fund

IP Investment Plan

IPF Investment Project Financing

IPLC Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities

M&E Monitoring and Evaluation

MALEBI Association of Women Producers and Traders of Secondary Forest Products

MDB Multilateral Development Bank
MINEF Ministry of Water and Forests

MRV Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification

NEA National Executing Agency

NGO Non-governmental Organization

NPV Net Present Value

NRM Natural Resource Management
NSC National Steering Committee

OIPR Ivorian Office of Parks and Reserves (Office Ivoirien des Parcs et Réserves)

OP Operational Policy

PDO Project Development Objective

PF Process Framework

PIM Project Implementation Manual

PPP Public Private Partnership

QCBS Quality and Cost Based Selection

RD Rural Domain

REDD+ Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation

RFP Request for Proposal

RPF Resettlement Policy Framework
SBD Standard Bidding Documents
SCD Systematic Country Diagnostic

SCF Strategic Climate Fund

SDG Sustainable Development Goal

SEP-REDD+ Permanent Executive Secretariat for REDD+ (Secrétariat Exécutif Permanent de

*la REDD+*)

SODEFOR Forestry Development Corporation (Société de Développement des Forets)

SOE Statement of Expense SOP Series of Projects

TF Trust Fund
UN United Nations

UN-REDD United Nations – Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest

Degradation

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

USD United States Dollar

WB World Bank

XOF West African CFA franc

BASIC INFORMATION			
Is this a regionally tag	ged project?	Country (ies)	
Financing Instrument		Classification	
Investment Project Fir	nancing	Small Grants	
[ ] Situations of Urger	nt Need or Assistance/or Capac	ity Constraints	
[ ] Financial Intermed	iaries (FI)		
[ ] Series of Projects (	SOP)		
Approval Date	Closing Date	Environmental Assessment Category	v.
06-Jan-2020	30-Dec-2024	B-Partial Assessment	y
Approval Authority	Bank/IFC Collaboration		
CDA	No		
Please Explain			
·	esented to the Board for final d	lecision.	
Proposed Developme	nt Objective(s)		
The Project Developm		the capacity of targeted local commurels.	nities to participate in
Component Name			Cost (USD Million)
	ocal Communities		600,000.00
capacity building for L			
	lementation of a performance-	based system to reduce pressure	3,200,000.00

# **Organizations**

Borrower: CARE International

Implementing Agency: Care International

# **PROJECT FINANCING DATA (US\$, Millions)**

## **SUMMARY**

Total Project Cost	4.50
Total Financing	4.50
Financing Gap	0.00

## **DETAILS**

# **Non-World Bank Group Financing**

Trust Funds	4.50
Climate Investment Funds	4.50

# **Expected Disbursements (in USD Million)**

Fiscal Year	2020	2021	2022	2023
Annual	0.65	0.76	1.42	1.67
Cumulative	0.65	1.41	2.83	4.50

# **INSTITUTIONAL DATA**

# **Practice Area (Lead)**

Environment, Natural Resources & the Blue Economy

# **Contributing Practice Areas**

Private Capital Mobilized No		
Gender Tag		
Does the project plan to undertake any of the following?		
a. Analysis to identify Project-relevant gaps between males and females, especially in ligh through SCD and CPF	t of country gaps ide	entified
No		
b. Specific action(s) to address the gender gaps identified in (a) and/or to improve women Yes	or men's empower	ment
c. Include Indicators in results framework to monitor outcomes from actions identified in ${\mbox{Yes}}$	(b)	
OVERALL RISK RATING		
	ting Substantial	
COMPLIANCE		
Policy  Does the project depart from the CPF in content or in other significant respects?  [✓] Yes [] No		
Does the project require any waivers of Bank policies?  [ ] Yes [ ✓] No		
Safeguard Policies Triggered by the Project	Yes	No
Environmental Assessment OP/BP 4.01	✓	
Natural Habitats OP/BP 4.04	✓	

Forests OP/BP 4.36		<b>√</b>
Pest Management OP 4	.09	✓
Physical Cultural Resou	rces OP/BP 4.11	✓
Indigenous Peoples OP	′BP 4.10	✓
Involuntary Resettleme	nt OP/BP 4.12	✓
Safety of Dams OP/BP	1.37	✓
Projects on Internation	al Waterways OP/BP 7.50	✓
Projects in Disputed Ar	eas OP/BP 7.60	<b>√</b>
Legal Covenants  Sections and Description The Recipient shall adouble Bank.	n pt the Project Implementation Manual in form a	and substance acceptable to the World
to the project who is fa Sections and Description The Recipient shall dra	ngthen the capacity of the FM team, primarily be miliar with WB FM procedures.	
Conditions  Type Effectiveness		. The Recipient has adopted the Project substance acceptable to the World Bank.
	Description	
Type Effectiveness		. The Recipient has appointed a finance and orld Bank financial management procedures.

PROJECT TEAM			
Bank Staff			
Name	Role	Specialization	Unit
Salimata D. Follea	Team Leader(ADM Responsible)	Natural Ressource Management	SAFE1
Maurice Adoni	Procurement Specialist(ADM Responsible)	Procurement	EA2RU
Jean Charles Amon Kra	Financial Management Specialist(ADM Responsible)	Financial management	EA2G1
Faly Diallo	Financial Management Specialist	FM	WFACS
Abdoul Wahabi Seini	Social Specialist(ADM Responsible)	Social safeguards	SAFS4
Abdoulaye Gadiere	Environmental Specialist (ADM Responsible)	Environmental safeguards	SAFE1
Anders Jensen	Team Member	M&E	SENGL
Dania Mosa	Team Member	NRM	SAFE1
Dinara Besekei Sutton	Team Member	Economic Analysis	SCCFM
Julie Nyamien Messoum Kouame	Team Member	Operations assistant	AFCF2
Marie Roger Augustin	Counsel	Legal	LEGAM
Meerim Shakirova	Team Member	NRM	SENGL
Nalin M. Kishor	Team Member	Forest Governance	SENGL
Patricia M. Kristjanson	Team Member	Gender	SENGL
Salamata Bal	Social Specialist	Social safeguards	SAFS4
Steven Jay Silverstein	Team Member	NRM	SAFE3
Virginie A. Vaselopulos	Team Member	Program Assistant	SAFE1
Extended Team Name	Title	Organization	Location

# CÔTE D'IVOIRE DEDICATED GRANT MECHANISM FOR COTE D'IVOIRE

# Contents

I.	STRATEGIC CONTEXT	8
	A. Country Context	8
	B. Sectoral and Institutional Context	8
	C. Higher Level Objectives to which the Project Contributes	10
II.	PROJECT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES	12
	A. PDO	12
	B. Project Beneficiaries	12
	C. PDO-Level Results Indicators	12
III.	PROJECT DESCRIPTION	. 12
	A. Project Components	13
	B. Project Cost and Financing	16
IV.	IMPLEMENTATION	. 16
	A. Institutional and Implementation Arrangements	16
	B. Results Monitoring and Evaluation	18
	C. Sustainability	20
٧.	KEY RISKS	. 20
	A. Overall Risk Rating and Explanation of Key Risks	20
VI.	APPRAISAL SUMMARY	. 21
	A. Economic Analysis	21
	B. Safeguards	22
	C. Financial Management	23
	D. Procurement	25
	E. World Bank Grievance Redress	25
VII.	RESULTS FRAMEWORK AND MONITORING	. 27
ANI	NEX A: DETAILED PROJECT DESCRIPTION	. 37
ANI	NEX B: INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS	. 44
APF	PENDIX C: DGM NATIONAL STEERING COMMITTEE MEMBER ROLES AND RESPONSIBILIT	IES

۰.	.,

APPENDIX D: ECONOMIC/FINANCIAL AND COBENEFITS ANALYSIS	. 57
APPENDIX E: MAP OF PROJECT SITE IN CÔTE D'IVOIRE	. 61

#### I. STRATEGIC CONTEXT

## **A. Country Context**

- 1. Côte d'Ivoire is located in West Africa and has a total surface area of 322,463 square kilometers (km²). It is bordered by Liberia and Guinea to the west, Mali and Burkina Faso to the north, and Ghana to the east. To the south, the country's long coastline of 550 km runs along the Gulf of Guinea. Côte d'Ivoire is divided into two main geographic regions: a forest zone in the south (48.2 percent of the surface area); and a savanna zone in the north (51.8 percent of the surface area).
- 2. The country's population, estimated at 6.7 million in 1975, has nearly quadrupled, reaching 23.8 million in 2016. This rapid increase has resulted from a combination of high natural population growth and significant immigration from neighboring countries. The country's population is young, with 75 percent under the age of 35. Half of the population lives in urban areas (50.3 percent). This demographic dynamic has put increasing pressure on the country's natural resources, especially in the forest zone, where the vast majority of the population lives (75.5 percent versus 24.5 percent in the savanna zone).
- 3. A long political-military crisis (2002-11) has had a significant negative economic and social impact on the country. The poverty rate was estimated at 46 percent in 2015 (INS 2015),<sup>1</sup> and the country ranked 170 (out of 188) in the 2017 Human Development Index (HDI) of the United Nations Development Program, putting it in the category of countries with low human development.
- 4. Since 2012, Côte d'Ivoire has shown renewed economic momentum, with a gross domestic product (GDP) growth rate estimated at 7.4 percent in 2018. The agricultural sector is the main driver for economic growth, employing more than two-thirds of the active population and producing approximately 28 percent of the country's GDP and over 50 percent of its export earnings. Côte d'Ivoire is the world's largest producer and exporter of cocoa, and the sector accounts for about a third of total exports.

#### **B. Sectoral and Institutional Context**

- 5. Côte d'Ivoire, located in the inter-tropical zone of West Africa, is divided into three main ecological areas: (i) in the north, the Sudanese sector, characterized by alternating wooded and grassy savannas, clear forests, and lateritic plateaus; (ii) in the center, the mesophilic sector, a transition zone consisting of a mosaic of savannas, clear forests and semi-deciduous dense forests; and (iii) in the south, the ombrophile area, characterized by a dense rain forest. Added to these three main zones are swamp forests, montane forests (in the west), and mangroves (along the coast).
- 6. The country's forest areas are administered by three different entities based on the following classifications: (i) the *Domaine Forestier Permanent de l'Etat* (Permanent Forest Estate of the State) which covers 6,267,730 ha (19 percent of the total country area) and includes 233 "Forêts Classées" (Gazetted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> National Statistical Institute (*Institut National de la Statistique*). (2015). Social indicators. Retrieved from http://www.ins.ci/n/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=85%3Aindicateurs-sociaux-qualite-de-vie-et-pauvrete&catid=49%3Ais&Itemid=96

Forests (GFs), covering 4.196 million ha, managed by the National Forest Development Agency (SODEFOR);<sup>2</sup> eight National Parks (including Taï, the largest reservoir of biodiversity in West Africa), and six natural reserves totaling 2,071,730 ha, managed by the Ivorian Office of Parks and Reserves (OIPR);<sup>3</sup> and (ii) the *Domaine Forestier Rural de l'Etat* (Rural Forest Domain of the State), managed by the Ministry of Water and Forests (MINEF), which constitutes a reserve of lands where priority is given to agriculture and which may be granted for forest exploitation.

- 7. The forest cover, estimated at 37 percent of the country's territory in 1960, had decreased to less than 14 percent by 2010 (AFD 2013).<sup>4</sup> Côte d'Ivoire's average deforestation rate increased from 1.5 percent per year between 1900 and 1980 to about 4.3 percent per year between 1990 and 2015 (BNETD 2016),<sup>5</sup> becoming the highest in the world at one point. Between 2000 and 2008, during the political crisis, the deforestation rate reached 25 percent in the GFs (SOFRECO 2009).<sup>6</sup> According to SODEFOR (2014),<sup>7</sup> the encroachment rate in GFs increased from 18 percent of the total area in 1996 to about 50 percent in 2014.
- 8. The main direct causes of deforestation and forest degradation are: (i) massive expansion of extensive slash-and-burn agriculture; (ii) uncontrolled harvesting of forests, in particular for firewood (currently estimated at 20 million cubic meters per year. This figure continues to grow due to the lack of protection for GFs, and to a lesser extent for areas designated for protection, and by significant shortcomings in the management of forest resources); (iii) bushfires (accidental or intentional, often for agriculture or hunting); and (iv) mining, notably illegal small-scale gold mining.
- 9. The main indirect causes, which have societal impacts, including those that are highly significant to forestry resources, are: (i) growing demographic pressures, which have been leading to increased urbanization in the southern forested parts of the country where 75.5 percent of the population lives; and (ii) generalized poverty of rural households, which has led to overexploitation of available natural resources to compensate for both the lack of productivity of smallholder farming and the lack of opportunities to obtain nonagricultural revenues.
- 10. To reverse the trend of deforestation and forest degradation, Côte d'Ivoire has been engaged since 2011 in the Reduction of Emissions due to Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+) process, with support from the World Bank (WB) and other partners, such as the United Nations REDD+ (UN-REDD), the French Development Agency (AFD), and the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). This engagement led to an initial grant in 2014 of US\$3.8 million and additional financing in 2017 of US\$5.0 million from the WB-managed Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF)-Readiness Fund and an additional US\$3.2 million from the UN-REDD. The Readiness Fund and the UN-REDD fund are designed to assist forest countries to: (i) prepare a national REDD+ strategy and policy framework; (ii) establish a reference baseline of emissions from deforestation and forest degradation; and (iii) set up a national monitoring, reporting, and verification (MRV) system for emissions reduction. The Readiness Fund recognizes that emissions' reduction requires basic reforms and investments in the forest and other relevant sectors, and it helps countries prepare to access longer-term financing sources, including results-based financing. In this context, Côte d'Ivoire proposal was accepted in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> SODEFOR: Société de Developpement des Forêts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Office Ivoirien des Parcs et Réserves/Ivorian Agency for National Parks and Reserves

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> French Development Agency (*Agence Française de Développement*). (2013). Insights from cocoa farmers and community baseline surveys conducted by Barry Callebaut between 2013 and 2015. Retrieved from *https://www.afd.fr/en/cocoa-farmers-agricultural-practices-and-livelihoods-cote-divoire* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> National Technical Studies and Development Authority (Bureau National d'Études Techniques et de Développement)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> SOFRECO. (2009) Study on post-conflict environmental analysis in West Africa

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Forest Development Society. (2014). Forest code in Cote d'Ivoire. Retrieved from http://www.sodefor.ci/pdf/cod\_for\_iv.pdf

October 2015 into the FCPF-Carbon Fund pipeline and the country is now preparing an Emission Reduction Program in the agriculture sector, in the South-West around Taï National Park, for performance-based payments against future emissions reductions.

- 11. In parallel with the FCPF, Côte d'Ivoire successfully applied for funding from the Forest Investment Program (FIP), a targeted program under the Strategic Climate Fund (SCF) to catalyze policies and measures for obtaining significantly increased funds to facilitate the reduction of deforestation and forest degradation and to promote sustainable management of forests. Both efforts are designed to lead to emissions reduction and the protection of carbon stocks. The FIP provides developing countries with up-front bridge financing for readiness reforms, and public and private investments to support their REDD+ efforts, while helping them to adapt to the impacts of climate change and to contribute to biodiversity conservation and other development goals. The FIP also supports community engagement in forest and REDD+-related consultations, decision-making, and implementation through a Dedicated Grant Mechanism (DGM) for Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities (DGM P163004).
- 12. At its meeting in June 2016, the FIP Subcommittee endorsed the Côte d'Ivoire Forest Investment Plan (IP) for a total amount of US\$80 million. The Côte d'Ivoire IP is designed to combine different interventions in the short- and medium-terms. Its programmatic nature is based on two key areas: (i) a medium- and long-term national vision aimed at balancing the economic interests of a range of stakeholders with the goals of emissions reduction and of sustainable conservation and management of the country's forests; and (ii) a focus on the sectors (such as agriculture) which have become the main drivers of deforestation in the country. The Côte d'Ivoire IP comprises a five-year first phase in the amount of US\$24 million, financed by the FIP trust fund (TF), and a second five-year phase of US\$56 million, to be raised by the government to consolidate, sustain and expand the first phase interventions. It also includes an additional US\$4.5 million for the DGM.
- 13. The FIP project (P162789) for an amount of US\$ 15.2 million was approved by the FIP Subcommittee in November 2017 and by the Bank's Board of Executive Directors in January 2018. It became effective in May 2018 and is scheduled to close on May 31, 2023. The WB is also the implementing agency responsible for the DGM.

#### C. Higher Level Objectives to which the Project Contributes

- 14. The proposed DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire will contribute to achieving the goals set out in the World Bank Group's Country Partnership Framework (CPF) FY16-FY19 (Report No. 96515-CI), discussed by the Board of Executive Directors on August 17, 2015, and that were confirmed and extended to FY21 by the Performance and Learning Review (Report No. 122566-CI) on April 24, 2018. which was extended to 2021 through a Performance and Learning Review (Report No. 122566-CI). The CPF focuses on two cross-cutting themes governance and spatial inequalities with three primary focus areas: (i) sustaining strong private sector-led growth; (ii) building human capital for inclusive growth, social cohesion, and youth employment; and (iii) strengthening public financial management (FM) and accountability. While its primary focus is on enhancing the capacities of local communities to conserve and restore forests, the nature of the project's activities and beneficiaries lends significant direct and indirect contributions to CPF Objective 1: Improve productivity in agriculture/agribusiness value chains, and to Objective 4: Formalize and enhance access to land for business and agriculture.
- 15. The project aligns with the WB's twin goals of shared prosperity and extreme poverty reduction. Despite being one of the fastest growing economies in Africa, Cote d'Ivoire's estimated share of the population living in poverty remains high: in 2015, 46.3 percent of the population lived below the national poverty threshold.

Poverty levels in rural areas are even higher than those in urban areas. While this is particularly true of the drier northern regions, the volatility in cocoa and coffee prices has also adversely affected rural poverty rates in the forested zones of the moister, richer South-West as well.

- 16. The project's activities target the country's South-West (current cocoa loop) and Center zones (former cocoa loop). (See map of project site in Appendix E). Activities will be undertaken directly by local communities in these targeted zones to implement a performance-based incentive system that will positively impact income levels and poverty rates at the local level.
- 17. In terms of shared prosperity, the project aims to improve not only local entrepreneurship but also the reconstruction and preservation of the country's natural wealth. It will, therefore, contribute to the long-term sustainable development of natural resources, thus allowing nearby residents to benefit directly from sustainable development of these resources and the employment opportunities they generate.
- 18. The DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire supports the World Bank's Forest Action Plan (FAP).<sup>8</sup> The project covers the main interventions of the FAP's Focus Area 1 on Sustainable Forestry, namely "to protect and optimize the use of forest, both natural and planted, to sustain livelihoods, create jobs and economic opportunities in rural areas while preserving ecosystem services delivered by forests," as well as the crosscutting themes of rights, participation, institutions and governance, climate change, and resilience. The project's strategic involvement in the forestry and agriculture sectors will strengthen the foundations for positive forest outcomes while improving living conditions and diversifying livelihoods among rural people.
- 19. The DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire responds to the strategic objectives of the FIP. It aims to enhance the capacity of local communities to participate in REDD+ programs and to utilize integrated landscape management more broadly and to strengthen their role at local, national, and global levels. In so doing, it supports national efforts to address the drivers of deforestation and forest degradation and to promote sustainable forest management.
- 20. The project's approach also embodies many of the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Overall, the project interventions will contribute to poverty reduction (SDG-1: No Poverty) and inclusive and sustainable economic growth (SDG-8: Decent Work and Economic Growth). The project will promote sustainable forest management and reverse land degradation (SDG-15: Life on Land), and promote climate change action, awareness-raising, and human capacity in climate change mitigation and adaptation, which will increase the resilience of the rural population (SDG-13: Climate Action). It will also contribute to capacity-building of local communities, enhancing multi-stakeholder partnerships to mobilize and share knowledge, expertise, and technology in the targeted forest areas while at the same time encouraging and promoting effective partnerships with public, private, and civil society organizations (SDG-17: Partnerships for the Goals).

<sup>8</sup> World Bank, Forest Action Plan (FY16-FY20). Retrieved from

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/240231467291388831/Forest-action-plan-FY16-20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> DGM Framework Operational Guidelines http://www.dgmglobal.org/documents/

#### II. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

#### A. PDO

21. The Project Development Objective is to strengthen the capacity of targeted local communities to participate in REDD+ processes at the local, national, and global levels.

## **B. Project Beneficiaries**

- 22. The direct project beneficiaries are forest-dependent local communities (totaling approximately 344,800 people) in the following target areas:
  - a. **Center region:** (i) GF of Ahua in the N'Zi region, department of Dimbokro; (ii) GF of Proungbo-Sérebi, region of Moronou, department of M'batto; (iii) network of GFs Laka-Fetekro-Mafa-Besse-Boka, region of Gbèkè in the department of Bouaké; and (iv) network GFs of Kouabo Boka-Soungourou-Boka Go, Iffou region in the departments of Bouaké and M'bahiakro;
  - b. **South-West region:** (i) GFs of Cavally and Goin Débé in the region of Cavally, department of Taï; (ii) GF of Duekoué, Guémon region, department of Duekoué; (iii) GF of Rapides Grah in the San-Pédro and Nawa regions, departments of Soubré, Méagui, and San-Pédro; (iv) GF of Haut-Dodo in the San-Pédro region, departments of Tabou and San-Pédro; and (v) Taï National Park.

#### C. PDO-Level Results Indicators

- Percentage of DGM participants with an increased role in the FIP and other REDD+ processes at local, national, or global levels, disaggregated by gender
- Area under agroforestry schemes (ha)
- Number of people in targeted forest and adjacent communities with increased monetary or nonmonetary benefits from forests, disaggregated by gender
- 23. These indicators include various aspects designed to strengthen the capacity of local communities. PDO Indicator 1 is focused on capacity-building of local communities at local, national, and global levels. PDO Indicator 2 is a corporate forest indicator of the Word Bank under the Forest Action Plan (FAP) 2016-2020. PDO Indicator 3 is a DGM indicator that monitors an increase of monetary and nonmonetary benefits received by project beneficiaries. For additional information, refer to the Results Framework section.

## III. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

- 24. **The DGM is a unique global initiative under the FIP.** The DGM was set up to enhance the capacity of local communities in eligible countries and to provide grants that support local community initiatives. The proposed five-year DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire is a stand-alone project that is consistent with FIP objectives and well-aligned with the ongoing FIP project in Côte d'Ivoire, complementing its aim to promote sustainable forest management by focusing on the community aspects of forest and land management.
- 25. **The DGM for Côte d'Ivoire has been prepared through a participatory process.** The government led consultations with communities in the Center and South-West regions, engaging a total of 1,489 participants,

15 percent of whom were women. These consultations led to the appointment of community representatives to the DGM National Steering Committee (NSC). Members of civil society, including local community groups and their umbrella organizations, such as the Association of Women Producers and Traders of Secondary Forest Products (MALEBI), and government agencies, including SODEFOR, the Rural Development Agency (ANADER), OIPR, and the Permanent Executive Secretariat for REDD+ (SEP-REDD+), play an advisory role to the National Steering Committee (NSC). The NSC has subsequently held six meetings to provide guidance in a number of areas: preparation of the Côte d'Ivoire DGM; the process of identifying the National Executing Agency (NEA); and establishment of internal governance mechanisms for the NSC – including electing the president and members, and taking into account community representation. The NSC has selected and tasked the nongovernmental organization (NGO) CARE International – Côte d'Ivoire with implementing the DGM project. Appendix A contains a detailed description of the project.

# **A. Project Components**

### Component 1: Capacity-building for Local Communities (estimated amount is US\$0.6 million)

- 26. This component aims to increase the capacity of local communities in project areas to participate in and effectively manage REDD+ processes. The component will finance capacity-building activities, communication events and materials, and operational costs for workshops in targeted DGM project areas (most of which are also FIP communities). The component will finance workshops, training, awareness-raising campaigns, technical specialists and experts, field level staff, training materials and venues, radio campaigns, transportation costs, vehicles and motorcycles, and other costs associated with training sessions and workshops. This component will include three subcomponents:
- 27. <u>Subcomponent 1.1 Capacity-building of the NSC (estimated amount is US\$150,000)</u>: This subcomponent aims to increase and strengthen the capacity of the DGM National Steering Committee. It will focus on decision-making skills, monitoring of subprojects, grievance processes, technical training, and knowledge exchanges with DGM and non-DGM countries. This subcomponent will train the NSC to make long-term decisions on the selection of subgrants by focusing on the consequences of each action in the short, medium-, and long-terms as a basis for rationalizing natural resources-related decisions.
- 28. <u>Subcomponent 1.2 Capacity-building, agroforestry and restoration techniques (estimated amount is US\$250,000)</u>: This subcomponent aims to provide in-depth training to foster a technical understanding of agroforestry, forest restoration, and REDD+ activities. It will also raise awareness and provide general and specialized training on the short- and long-term impacts of deforestation and forest degradation and climate change, as well as on the rationale for REDD+. Marginalized members of society (women and youth) will be encouraged to participate.
- 29. <u>Subcomponent 1.3 Capacity-building of beneficiaries to develop subprojects (estimated amount is US\$200,000)</u>: This subcomponent will finance necessary training for grant proposal writing. All potential grantees who have completed training under Subcomponent 1.2 (with a signed certificate of completion) may then receive grant proposal training before submitting their grant proposals.
- 30. Component 2: Development and implementation of a performance-based system to reduce pressure on forest resources (estimated amount is US\$3.2 million)
- 31. The objective of this component is to perform agroforestry activities in the project target areas to reduce pressure on forest resources.

- 32. The project will finance performance-based agroforestry and afforestation subprojects through: (i) an initial supply of seedlings to individuals or communities engaged in the DGM; (ii) subgrant payments triggered by first, introduction of a certain number of plants onto landholdings (for example, 50 to 100 per hectare, on the basis of a fixed price per planted tree), and second, by survival rate at the end of a specified period (up to five years); and (iii) long-term tree conservation. Performance-based contracts will be established between the beneficiaries and the DGM project with clear provisions and actions that will trigger payments to subprojects. The subprojects will be signed by both men and women and will not be tied to land ownership (a factor that has the potential to exclude women from gaining access to the benefits of the project). In addition, at least 50 percent of the funds from the subprojects will be dedicated to women for specific targeted activities. This provision will be included in the Project Implementation Manual (PIM).
- 33. **Subprojects will include:** (i) agroforestry operations involving the introduction of trees, such as cocoa, rubber, palm oil, and vegetable farms; and (ii) village afforestation or reforestation activities, including planting of trees possessing nutritional value.
- 34. Each subproject will be subject to a performance-based contract between the beneficiaries and the DGM project, including clear provisions and actions to trigger the flow of payments. The performance-based system will draw lessons from existing incentive payment mechanisms, particularly those in Benin, which have pursued targeted strategies and innovative practices to ensure that women benefit directly from these initiatives. Examples include signatories do not have to have land titles, payments are made directly to women as well as men, rotating leadership rules if payments are made to groups, monitoring systems based on digital systems to track subprojects.
- 35. Eligible beneficiaries should have their farmlands in the target areas of the DGM project. Beneficiaries will include individual smallholder farmers and farmers' associations. Associations must provide proof of official recognition; they must also demonstrate transparent and inclusive governance, including financial propriety, representative membership, rotating leadership, and women in leadership positions.
- 36. To guide individuals or associations in the development of eligible subprojects, this component will finance: (i) technical assistance for the development of a standardized operational manual framework to provide guidance for sub-project beneficiaries (including technical trainings in finance management, accounting etc.) and technical assistance for agroforestry and forest plantations (including nursery development, field preparation, species, number of trees per hectare for agroforestry, value per tree, maintenance techniques, including firewalls, and long-term conservation techniques); (ii) technical assistance to support communities in the development and implementation of DGM-financed subprojects; and (iii) grants to beneficiaries for the implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of subprojects.
- 37. **The subprojects will be selected biannually by the NSC**. Eligible subprojects will include, but are not limited to, the following activities:
- a. Establishment of nurseries;
- Promotion of environmental education activities (awareness-raising and training of primary and secondary school students in the establishment of groves and creation of school nurseries);
- c. Forest regeneration and reforestation;
- d. Establishment of orchards, including those for medicinal, food, timber, and fuelwood purposes;
- e. Agroforestry (food crops and timber species) and water and soil conservation activities;
- f. Integrated water management;

- g. Climate-smart agriculture;
- h. Community forest management; and
- i. Sustainable management of nontimber forest products.

# Component 3: Project Management, Monitoring, and Communication (estimated amount is US\$0.7 million)

- 38. This component will support management, monitoring, and coordination of project activities. This component covers the incremental operational and managerial costs of the NEA team to carry out its tasks and overall responsibilities, as well as the additional costs for the design and implementation of a robust monitoring and evaluation (M&E) system and an efficient project-related Grievance and Redress Mechanism (GRM). The GRM will be culturally appropriate and will be able to address and resolve in a timely manner any project-related grievances (as per DGM Operational Guidelines). The GRM will build on ongoing projects in the WB's FIP and FCPF portfolios.
- 39. Lessons learned and reflected in the project design. The project incorporates lessons learned from the ongoing DGM and FIP projects in other countries, and previous experiences in relevant projects in Côte d'Ivoire. The report for the recent Learning Review of the DGM (2019)<sup>10</sup> for Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities (IPLCs) has revealed the need for: (i) subprojects of national DGM projects to be designed inline with community needs; (ii) greater inclusion of marginalized and vulnerable groups; (iii) improved grant management and governance; (iv) strengthened technical capacity; (v) increased sense of ownership and ambition to sustain and scale up the DGM model; and (vi) trust. The following lessons have been incorporated into the project's design:
- 40. **Participatory and inclusive stakeholder approach.** The project has been developed as a partnership between key stakeholders, with extensive engagement of local communities and promotion of decentralized decision-making processes. Potential topics for subprojects were discussed with the local communities, and activities in the field were visited and assessed.
- 41. **Inclusion of marginalized groups.** Components 1 and 2 under this project will include specific training for women, and it is estimated that about 50 percent of funded subprojects will be implemented by individual women and/or women-led groups.
- 42. **Improved technical assistance.** Under Component 1, extensive capacity-building activities will be conducted, including culturally adequate and timely technical assistance and on-site training that will be prepared in a participatory manner.
- 43. **Capacity-building and training.** Under Component 1, capacity-building training on decision-making processes related to forest management and climate change, as well as on grant writing, will be organized for each region. Additionally, specific training on decision-making processes will be provided to the NSC to enhance the knowledge and skills needed for optimal selection of subprojects, rigorous monitoring, and regular reporting.
- 44. **Transparent implementation arrangements and procedures.** The project will ensure a transparent and simplified implementation arrangement through open data access for each subproject, including procurement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> ITAD consulting. (2019). A learning review of the DGM for IPLCS in the FIP of the CIF. Retrieved from https://www.climateinvestmentfunds.org/sites/cif\_enc/files/knowledge-documents/dgm\_learning\_review\_jan26\_final\_withmanagementstatement.pdf

and financial reporting. The project will rely on streamlined and flexible procedures for subprojects, communication, and outreach strategies.

#### **B. Project Cost and Financing**

45. **The proposed operation is an Investment Project Financing**, supported by a grant from the Strategic Climate Fund in the amount of US\$ 4.5 million and structured as detailed below.

Project Components	Project cost	Trust Funds	Counterpart Funding
Component 1	0.6 million	0.6 million	0
Component 2	3.2 million	3.2 million	0
Component 3	0.7 million	0.7 million	0
Total Costs			
Total Project Costs	4.50 million		
Total Financing Required	4.50 million		

# IV. IMPLEMENTATION

#### A. Institutional and Implementation Arrangements

#### 46. The DGM program has two components:

- a. **A global component** for exchange of knowledge and building of networks and partnerships among IPLC organizations in DGM countries and elsewhere; and
- b. A country-based community small grants component in each FIP country (Brazil, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of Congo, Ghana, Indonesia, Mexico, Mozambique, and Peru) to support on-the-ground activities and capacity-building.
- 47. The proposed project supports the national DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire. The institutional arrangements for the DGM are based on the principle of being "for local communities by local communities." The project will be conducted in collaboration with the Government of Côte d'Ivoire, specifically its SODEFOR agency and REDD+ National Secretariat, as well as development partners and other stakeholders (Refer to Figure 1 for a representation of the linkages between the Global and National Components of the DGM).



Figure 1: DGM Architecture

- 48. The National Steering Committee will have oversight of DGM implementation in Côte d'Ivoire. It will provide to the DGM's Global Steering Committee (GSC), with the assistance of the NEA, a semi-annual report on the implementation of the program. Its primary function will be to select proposals for and to monitor the progress of subprojects. The GSC membership include representatives from FIP and non-FIP countries, as well as representatives from FIP governments, World Bank, FCPF, and other relevant parties.
- 49. The NSC will liaise with the national REDD+ coordination unit to ensure that DGM lessons are routinely transmitted to inform ongoing national processes. Members will actively seek feedback about the program from the local communities, identify needs, collect and send ideas to the GSC (for support through the global component), and represent Côte d'Ivoire in the GSC as required. The NSC has a majority of local communities as decision-making members. Observers in the NSC can be from the government, private sector, MDBs, and other relevant agencies. The NSC's total number of 15 members was determined by stakeholders. Members of the NSC will act in their individual capacity and not as agents, officers or representatives of the GEA (Global Executing Agency), NEA, WB, the African Development Bank (AfDB), member countries of the FIP Subcommittee, beneficiary countries or any other organization or entity. The NSC is a subgroup of the representatives from each project area.
- 50. **NSC** members were chosen through a self-selection process conducted at the local and national levels. The time they serve on the NSC will be considered as a voluntary contribution. Representatives from the WB (one) and NGOs will be observers in the NSC. The NSC is composed of fifteen members, including eight voting members and seven observers. Voting members are representatives of local communities targeted by the DGM project. The seven observers are made up of representatives of the government, civil society, the private sector, NGOs, SEP-REDD+, and the WB.
- 51. Selection of the National Executing Agency was carried out through a competitive process. The WB will enter into an agreement after the WB Board approval with CARE International Côte d'Ivoire as the selected implementing partner. The selected NGO will provide progress reports to the WB, including reports on safeguards, procurement, and fiduciary aspects of the project.
- 52. **CARE International Côte d'Ivoire will be the secretariat for the NSC.** It will facilitate the work of the NSC during the project implementation, develop country-specific review and risk assessment criteria, and provide operational and financial reporting to the WB. Under the overall direction of the NSC, CARE International Côte d'Ivoire will be responsible for entering into agreements with and disbursing funds to grant beneficiaries, as well as monitoring the implementation of grant-funded projects and ensuring appropriate use of DGM

funds. CARE International – Côte d'Ivoire will complement the framework operational guidelines with country-specific procedures, which will be reflected in the PIM. Thus, the project will allow for the DGM to be implemented in keeping with national circumstances and requirements. The NEA will also maintain documentation on the country's DGM subprojects, follow the communications strategy in coordination with the GEA, manage grievance and complaint redress procedures, and coordinate with and respond promptly to queries from the GEA.

# **B. Results Monitoring and Evaluation**

- 53. A monitoring and evaluation assessment of the NEA has been undertaken to ensure accountability for the use of resources and progress towards achieving the objective of the National and Global DGM projects. The NEA has vast experience in working with local communities at the subproject level in Côte d'Ivoire, including substantive collection of data, monitoring, and reporting. Additionally, the project will have an M&E capacity-building component for subproject beneficiaries related to subproject implementation progress, as well as outputs and outcomes under the project.
- 54. The M&E training for the NEA will be conducted to learn from other countries' experiences in M&E, lessons learned, and best practices. The Global DGM will provide any support needed to ensure vital learning and transparency in the project, as well as to ensure dissemination of project results to the Global Steering Committee (GSC).
- 55. The progress and success of the project will be measured against the results (performance) indicators as shown in the results framework attached below (Section VII). M&E activities will help collect, analyze, and present data on progress towards achieving the project's objectives. This continuous feedback loop will help the project team and stakeholders to identify areas where mid-term corrections and adjustments may be necessary.
- 56. In order to measure progress toward achieving the Project Development Objective (PDO), the project has three PDO indicators (see the project Results Framework section). These indicators include various aspects designed to strengthen the capacity of local communities. PDO Indicator 1 is focused on capacity-building of local communities at local, national, and global levels. PDO Indicator 2 is a corporate forest indicator of the Word Bank under the Forest Action Plan (FAP) 2016-2020. PDO Indicator 3 is a DGM indicator that monitors an increase of monetary and nonmonetary benefits received by project beneficiaries. Additionally, a set of intermediate indicators for each project component have been developed to track results critical to measuring project progress during implementation.
- 57. The project Results Framework includes a set of indicators, their respective units of measurement, baselines, annual targets, and data collection methodologies. The NEA is responsible for data collection and reporting. Data will be collected annually during the project lifespan in order to monitor progress towards the achievement of results. An annual implementation review mission will be carried out by the WB to help assess the progress that has been made with respect to the main PDO indicators and to verify that individual components have attained their goals.
- 58. The project will have a dedicated M&E specialist whose primary responsibilities will be to manage data production, collection, analysis, and presentation. This will include the development of a comprehensive M&E plan (including materials, methods, and procedures). To ensure consistent and systematic implementation of M&E efforts, the expert shall, during the first quarter of implementation of the project, develop a detailed M&E manual and system.

- 59. The project will also work closely with the Global DGM to report on project results. The Global DGM will actively coordinate with the NEA to develop a reporting framework on the project's implementation in order to monitor and document overall implementation progress; it will be consolidated with other national DGM projects and presented in a DGM-wide compilation of progress reports. The Global DGM project will also provide advice and coordination with other NEAs in DGM countries to ensure that information from national-level monitoring efforts on progress toward achieving global indicators flows effectively to reporting mechanisms.
- 60. **Institutional arrangements for monitoring, learning, evaluation, and reporting.** A standard DGM institutional arrangement structure for monitoring, evaluation, and learning will be applied in the project (Refer to Figure 2).

Global Steering National Steering Data will be updated biannually Committee Committee WB DGM WB Task Team Team Collecting, aggregating and reporting data National Executing Global Executing Agency in FIP country Providing technical support Agency and assuring data quality Grantees: IPLCs in FIP countries

Figure 2: DGM Institutional Arrangements for Monitoring, Learning, Evaluation, and Reporting

## Stakeholder Roles and Responsibilities

# Project Update and provide raw data (for example, number of beneficiaries); report to the beneficiaries Draft results stories and submit to NEA **NEA** Collect, update, and aggregate raw data on subprojects and activities for capacity development, with input from grantees, and report them to the NSC, World Bank, and Global DGM; Help grantees draft "result stories" and present them to the global platform organized by the GEA Assess if DGM-funded subprojects achieved their objectives NSC Review progress of all subprojects/activities against indicators with the inputs from Discuss lessons learned and apply them to the design and implementation of future **GEA** Collect, update, and aggregate raw data on the global project (for example, number of "results stories") and report them to the GSC and World Bank GSC Review progress of DGM-funded sub-projects and activities against indicators based on the inputs from GEA Discuss the lessons learned and apply them to the design and implementation of future projects

WB	Côte d'	'Ivoire
	DGM	Team

- Provide technical support to the NEA for defining, measuring, and reporting results, assuring data quality; review drafted "results stories"
- Review the NEA's evaluation of subprojects

WB Global DGM

Provide technical support to GEA for defining, measuring, and reporting results

## C. Sustainability

- 61. **DGM** activities are significant and transformational, particularly with respect to the involvement of communities. Successful implementation of DGM activities will create a new, collaborative, and sustainable approach to sustainable natural resource management (NRM). In particular, they will allow for: (i) communities' engagement in and ownership of forest management activities; (ii) quality in investments; (iii) strengthened capacity at the local level; (iv) effective participation of women in planning and implementation; (v) government commitment to improve forest and land management; and (vi) integration of environmental sustainability into investments and planning at national, subnational, and local levels. In addition, the capacity-building program supported under Component 1 will strengthen the skills of community representatives and community-based organizations to mobilize more financial resources from other donors through the design of more robust project proposals.
- 62. The high rate of deforestation and degradation observed in Côte d'Ivoire over the past five decades led the country in 2011 to become involved in the international REDD+ process. Côte d'Ivoire signified its political commitment to a national REDD+ process in Decree No. 2012-1049 of October 24, 2012, which was signed by the President. This decree lays the foundation for the national REDD+ process and provides for the establishment of REDD+ preparation management structures. Commitment to REDD+ is also manifested in the country's endorsement of the New York Declaration on Forests, which aims to eliminate deforestation caused by the production of agricultural raw materials by encouraging companies to adopt zero-deforestation policies and working with local administrations to manage their forest resources appropriately. Engagement in the REDD+ process provides the basis for direct government support to the implementation and goals of the FIP and DGM and ensures the sustainability of project results.

# V. KEY RISKS

## A. Overall Risk Rating and Explanation of Key Risks

- 63. **The overall risk of the project is considered Substantial.** An explanation of the most relevant risks and mitigation measures is detailed below.
- 64. **Political and Governance High:** There is a risk that NSC members may favor their constituencies in the allocation of resources. To mitigate this, the NSC's by-laws will set rules to ensure that there is no bias or conflict of interest in the selection of subprojects and beneficiaries. Furthermore, the PIM will set out procedures and selection criteria of subprojects under NEA oversight (the NEA also serves the role of NSC Secretariat).
- 65. **Technical Design of Project Substantial:** The project design may appear ambitious given the wide range of interventions proposed, that is, a subset of capacity-building activities at the local, national, and global levels, in addition to the number of incentive-based agroforestry and reforestation subprojects to be implemented -- the selection process of beneficiaries is prone to be lengthy given the novelty of the DGM

itself. To mitigate this risk, CARE International, a seasoned NGO experienced in community-driven development projects, was hired as the NEA. CARE will put in place robust organizational and logistics arrangements, including: (i) development by November of each year of annual work plans and related procurement plans, and annual training and workshops that are to be reviewed and approved by the World Bank by December so that implementation of activities can promptly start in early January of the following year; and (ii) development of procurement plans in such a way that activities can be regrouped in limited lots to facilitate acquisition of goods and services for subproject recipients, thereby facilitating smooth and timely implementation of project activities.

- 66. Institutional Capacity for Implementation and Sustainability Substantial. The NEA was selected for its experience and its capacity in developing and implementing communication and advocacy strategies as well as M&E systems, and for its proven experience in working with communities, and on gender issues and community-based NRM initiatives. To ensure that the NEA maintains the skills and capacities necessary to effectively implement this project and conduct quality monitoring, NEA staff will periodically receive supplementary training from the WB throughout the course of the project. Another factor that may affect the quality of implementation is the capacity level of local beneficiary organizations. This risk will be minimized through the provision by NEA of on-site training and technical assistance aimed at institutional strengthening of CBOs as well as the development of individual, communal, and entrepreneurial skills.
- 67. **Fiduciary Substantial:** This project entails a substantial amount of financial transactions from the NEA to local communities for the implementation of subprojects. Because the financial management capacity of subproject recipients is considered low or nonexistent, fiduciary risks related to the project are substantial. To mitigate these risks, recipients will receive training in basic accounting and financial management (FM) principles, and their use of funds will be closely monitored by the NEA. Specific FM supervision missions will be undertaken by the World Bank's FM Specialist -- based in the Côte d'Ivoire country office and additional financial oversight will be conducted by the fiduciary services department of the Integrated Projects Management Unit for World Bank-financed NRM and Environment projects tasked with FM support to the FIP project.

#### VI. APPRAISAL SUMMARY

## A. Economic Analysis

68. The DGM project for Côte d'Ivoire has been designed to maximize sustainability and efficiency. The project will invest in demand-driven community initiatives that will generate a combination of immediate and long-term benefits for communities. This includes direct project benefits of: lowered greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, increased income and poverty reduction, lowered soil erosion, improved water regimes, and biodiversity conservation. Measurable benefits will derive from successful implementation of Component 2. The project will finance performance-based agroforestry and afforestation subprojects. The subprojects will be selected on a biannual basis by the NSC. Given the demand-driven nature of this project, selection of the subprojects will be on a rolling basis. Uncertainty about many input variables makes cost-benefit assessment difficult to assess at this stage. Therefore, DGM economic analysis is based on assessments conducted under the baseline Côte d'Ivoire FIP and previous operations, as well as on relevant studies on similar interventions in the Africa region and in Côte d'Ivoire. This analysis counts benefits from reforestation, improved climate, and watershed services under two scenarios: (i) beneficiaries at the same number as those in FIP; (ii)

beneficiaries numbering 30 percent of FIP (as a proportion of the DGM grant to the amount of FIP). Benefits of bioprospecting in the Tai National Park were not accounted for in this analysis.

- 69. The simulation generated positive results at the 6 percent discount rate scenario and assuming only 30 percent of the FIP beneficiaries received assistance under DGM. The benefit/cost ratio accounting for all benefits delivered under the project is assessed at 8.9, and the Net Present Value (NPV) is positive, at US\$30.1 million. Without climate benefits at 6 percent discount rate the benefits cost ratio is 5.5 and NPV is assessed at US\$19.9 million.
- 70. Capacity-building in, and technical trainings on, agroforestry, restoration, and REDD+ activities will bring certain intangible benefits that improve technical understanding of reforestation, agroforestry, and forest and land management practices for the beneficiaries of the FIP and REDD+ processes. In the long term, technical training and the building of partnerships between the private sector and beneficiaries will result in increased income levels within local communities. This training is expected to lead to improved land management skills and increased resilience for participating members.

# **B. Safeguards**

- 71. **Environmental:** From the environmental perspective, the project is a category B-partial assessment. No significant negative environmental impacts and/or risks are expected. However, the project is directly linked to the FIP, which triggers the following safeguards policies: (i) OP/BP 4.01: Environmental Assessment; (ii) OP/BP 4.04 Natural Habitats; (iii) OP 4.09 Pest Management; (iv) OP/BP 4.11 Physical Cultural Resources; and (v) OP/BP 4.36 Forests. The DGM triggers the same safeguards policies as a precautionary measure to address potential environmental impacts and risks resulting from implementation of Component 2 activities. The government has developed an Environmental and Social Management Framework (ESMF) which includes a chapter on Pest Management in line with the triggering of OP4.09 with the aim of guiding the sound and safe potential use of pesticides. After its preparation, the document was reviewed by the WB, approved, consulted upon, and disclosed in-country on February 28, 2019 and on the World Bank website in March 2019.
- 72. **Social:** The project is expected to have overall positive social impacts, especially for the communities adjacent to GFs targeted in the project. The project is not expected to require any land acquisition or involuntary resettlement of people. However, for precautionary measures, a Process Framework (PF) and a Resettlement Policy Framework (RPF) have been prepared under due diligence to ensure that the appropriate measures will be taken for the implementation of Component 2. These reports (PF and RPF) have been prepared by the government and reviewed by the WB. Both social safeguards instruments were disclosed incountry and on the World Bank Website, respectively, in March 2019. The social safeguards policy triggered is OP/BP 4.12 (Involuntary Resettlement).
- 73. **Gender:** The DGM project will pay special attention to gender gaps and associated issues. The recent Forest Investment Project<sup>11</sup> identified several "gender gaps" that are relevant to the current project. These include the following:
  - a. Women are not co-signatories on performance-based contracts, such as those for planting trees in GFs.
  - b. Women participating in reforestation activities have faced insecure access to land for agroforestry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> IDA, Project Appraisal Document PAD2613 Forest Investment Project, Jan. 3, 2018

- c. Women's knowledge of high-potential agroforestry species for livelihood diversification and market opportunity is extremely limited.
- d. Women typically face limited access to water for activities, for instance, establishing tree nurseries.
- 74. **Gender actions.** In the design of the DGM project, several women's associations were consulted. They were involved in various awareness-raising campaigns in the DGM's targeted project areas during project preparation.
- 75. Women representatives for local communities have been elected to the regional NSCs in all eight regions implementing the DGM. Women lead several associations, federations, and NGOs involved in project implementation. During the preparation phase of the project, several women's associations with proven experience in running nurseries, and in agroforestry and reforestation efforts, met in the South-West and Center regions. During the gender assessment, needs expressed by these women's groups included: the creation of permanent water sources; the provision of work materials; the search for seedling flow markets produced for female nursery developers; creation of agricultural frameworks; and the need for financial support for maintenance of agroforestry reforestation activities.
- 76. The DGM will go beyond merely ensuring participation in it by women, but instead seeing to it that women are empowered by it, primarily through targeted capacity-building activities (for example, training activities) that address critical gender gaps. The capacity-building component set an ambitious target for women's participation at 50 percent, this target is higher than any other gender target on capacity-building in existing DGM projects. As a result, the specific training needs of women will be identified as a prelude to the planned training so that teaching modules can take them into account, particularly trainings will focus on high-potential of agroforestry specifies for livelihood diversification and access to markets. This means that the themes and approaches of training must take into account the needs of both men and women.
- 77. The DGM project team will also establish a quota to ensure that women and men benefit equally from subproject grants. Women or women's organizations, or a mixed group that undertake livelihood improvement activities (for instance, income generation), which have direct benefits for both women and men, must lead 50 percent of the subprojects supported under the project. This will likely require targeted assistance to the women/women leaders' groups in the preparation of the project proposal, and therefore, such assistance will be a component of special capacity-building activities for women. All relevant indicators will be disaggregated by gender and monitored respectively.

## C. Financial Management

- 78. A financial management capacity assessment has been conducted in conformity with the Financial Management Practice Manual for WB-Financed Investment Operations that became effective on December 11, 2014. The objective of the assessment was to determine whether CARE International Côte d'Ivoire, the DGM NEA, has acceptable financial management arrangements which will ensure that: (i) the funds are used only for the intended purposes in an efficient and economical way; (ii) accurate and timely periodic financial reports are prepared; and (iii) assets are safeguarded.
- 79. The findings of the FM capacity assessment of CARE International Côte d'Ivoire conducted in December 2018 revealed that the Care International's FM arrangements meet the World Bank's minimum requirements under Bank Policy and Bank Directive for IPF, including having both staffing and tools in place to manage the resources of the DGM operation. While the FM team is headed by a qualified and experienced finance manager, the entire team needs additional capacity-strengthening in WB FM procedures and

requirements. The NGO has past experience in implementing well-known donor-financed operations from the Global Fund, AfDB, WBG, the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the European Union. Acceptable FM procedures, including the manual and accounting software "PEOPLESOFT", are in place. The financial statements of donor-financed projects are regularly audited by reputable auditing firms that are acceptable to the WB. The auditors expressed a clean opinion (unqualified) on the 2015, 2016, and 2017 annual accounts of projects implemented by the NGO. However, the management letters prepared by the auditor following the audits raised some concerns, including some internal control weaknesses and minor ineligible expenditures. The action plans developed following these audits have been or are being implemented.

- 80. The use of the FM team of CARE International Côte d'Ivoire to manage the financial management aspects of the project will enable the establishment of a financial fiduciary management system for the project that satisfies the Bank's minimum requirements under Bank Policy and Investment Project Financing (IPF) Directives. Based on the findings of the assessment, the following actions are required to ensure effective FM systems: (i) strengthening the capacity of the FM team mainly through the appointment of dedicated FM staff assigned to the project and familiar with WB FM procedures; (ii) opening of a Designated Account in an eligible commercial bank in Abidjan that is capable of receiving funds from the WB; and (iii) drafting of a short note as an annex to the existing FM Manual to reflect the Bank's FM procedures and requirements. These actions are to be completed in a timely manner to help implement the project: Actions (i) and (iii) are conditions of effectiveness of the Trust Fund (TF). Action (ii) is a dated covenant and should be implemented not later than two months after the project goes into effect.
- 81. The NGO will be required to prepare and submit to the WB the following reports and documents: (i) an annual work program and budget (AWPB) to be submitted not later than November 30<sup>th</sup> of the year preceding the year when the work plan should be implemented; (ii) a quarterly unaudited interim financial report (IFR) within 45 days following the end of each calendar quarter; and (iii) audited annual financial statements not later than six months following the end of each fiscal year.
- 82. Disbursements. Upon TF (Grant) effectiveness, transaction-based disbursements will be used. The project will finance 100 percent of eligible expenditures inclusive of taxes. A Designated Account (DA) in XOF will be opened in a commercial bank located in Côte d'Ivoire under terms and conditions acceptable to the WB. The ceiling of the DA will be stated in the Disbursement and Financial Information Letter (DFIL) and will represent four to six months of forecasted project expenditures expected to be paid from the DA during Year 1 and based on the AWPB of Year 1. An initial advance up to the ceiling of the DA will be made and subsequent disbursements will be made against submission of a Statement of Expense (SOE) reporting on the use of the initial/previous advance. The option to disburse against submission of quarterly unaudited IFRs (also known as report-based disbursements) could be considered as soon as the project meets the related criteria. Other methods of disbursing the funds (reimbursement, direct payment, and special commitment) will also be available to the project. The minimum value of applications for these methods is 20 percent of the DA ceiling. The project will sign and submit Withdrawal Applications electronically using the eSignatures module accessible from the WB Client Connection website. The NGO will then transfer money to communities/ beneficiaries of project funds and contractors/services providers based on the contracts and Memorandum of Understanding associated with the AWPB. The criteria for payment and reimbursement will be detailed in the project implementation manual. The NGO will consider the findings of the internal auditor and WB and external auditors while approving the requests for subsequent replenishment of communities/beneficiaries' subaccounts opened in a commercial bank. The FM team of the NGO will reserve the right to verify the expenditures ex-post, and refunds might be requested for no-respect of contractual/convention clauses. Misappropriated activities could result in the suspension of financing for a given community and implementing entity.

- 83. Based on the current risk assessment, which is Substantial, at least two full supervision missions are planned over the first year of the project implementation.
- 84. The project/CARE International Côte d'Ivoire will comply with the WB disclosure policy of audit reports and place the information provided on the official website within two months of the report being accepted as final by the team and by the Bank.

#### **D. Procurement**

- 85. An assessment of the NEA procurement capacity was conducted to determine the capacity of the NEA to carry out the project's procurement activities. The assessment evaluated the following: (i) experience in procurement; (ii) staff capacity; (iii) capacity of filing of procurement documents; and (iv) the existence of an implementation manual on procurement. The assessment concluded that the CARE capacity was acceptable to the Bank based on its implementation of projects similar to the DGM, and as such can be responsible for project implementation, assuming a number of mitigation measures are in place to overcome identified capacity constraints.
- 86. **Guidelines.** Côte d'Ivoire's procurement code and regulations generally do not conflict with International Development Association (IDA) guidelines. However, certain provisions in Côte d'Ivoire's code that diverge with IDA guidelines (related to the use of point systems and rebidding when at least three bids have not been submitted) will not be permitted for national competitive bidding. The procurement for the proposed project will be carried out in accordance with the following WB guidelines summarized in the following sources: (i) Guidelines: Procurement of Goods, Works, and Nonconsulting Services under IBRD Loans and IDA Credits and Grants (July 1, 2016); and (ii) Guidelines: Selection and Employment of Consultants under IBRD Loans and IDA Credits and Grants by WB Borrowers (July 1, 2016).
- 87. **Procurement documents.** Procurement would be carried out using the Bank's Standard Bidding Documents (SBD) for all International Competitive Bidding for goods and works and for Standard Request for Proposal (RFP) for the selection of consultants through competitive procedures. The Recipient will develop standard documents based on the Bank's SBDs for National Competitive Bidding for goods and works and the Bank's RFP for the selection of consultants through methods other than Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS), with modifications that will be submitted to IDA for prior approval.
- 88. **Pending actions.** To enhance the NEA's procurement capacity to implement the project, the following recommendations in advance of project launch, will be implemented after the project becomes effective: (i) capacity-building of CARE procurement staff in Bank procurement policies and procedures; and (ii) the adoption of the project implementation manual specifying procurement procedures specific to the project. As such, the following areas will be specified: the various procurement methods or consultant selection methods; any activities requiring prequalification; estimated costs of activities; prior review requirements; and a procurement calendar. The procurement plan will be updated at least annually, or more frequently as required to reflect actual project implementation needs and capacity.

## **E. World Bank Grievance Redress**

89. Communities and individuals who believe that they are adversely affected by a World Bank (WB) supported project may submit complaints to existing project-level grievance redress mechanisms or the WB's Grievance Redress Service (GRS). The GRS ensures that complaints received are promptly reviewed in order to address project-related concerns. Project affected communities and individuals may submit their complaint to the

WB's independent Inspection Panel which determines whether harm occurred, or could occur, as a result of WB non-compliance with its policies and procedures. Complaints may be submitted at any time after concerns have been brought directly to the World Bank's attention, and Bank Management has been given an opportunity to respond. For information on how to submit complaints to the World Bank's corporate Grievance Redress Service (GRS), please visit <a href="http://www.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/products-and-services/grievance-redress-service">http://www.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/products-and-services/grievance-redress-service</a>. For information on how to submit complaints to the World Bank Inspection Panel, please visit www.inspectionpanel.org.

#### VII. RESULTS FRAMEWORK AND MONITORING

#### **Results Framework**

COUNTRY : Cote d'Ivoire
Dedicated Grant Mechanism for Cote d'Ivoire

# **Project Development Objectives**

The Project Development Objective is to strengthen the capacity of targeted local communities to participate in REDD+ processes at the local, national, and global levels.

# **Project Development Objective Indicators**

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measure	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection
Name: % of DGM participants with an increased role in the FIP and other REDD + processes at local, national or global levels, disaggregated by gender (Percent)		Percentag e	0.00	75.00	Annual	Field Surveys	NEA

Description: The indicator is related to the capacity of local communities in project areas. The indicator measures the percentage of participants that have participated in capacity building and other related activities supported by the project and which shows an increased role to participate in FIP and other REDD+ processes.

DGM participants are defined as individuals from communities directly participating in DGM-funded capacity building activities.

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measure	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection
% is a measure of individual	s from participa	ating DGM co	mmunities wi	th an increased r	role		
Increased role will be meason other REDD+ processes.	ured by their ca	pacity to des	cribe issues su	uch as deforestat	ion, degradation, FIP, F	REDD+ etc. and/or train other s	takeholders in the FIP and
enhancement of participant	s' capacity in a	dvocacy as a	result of the p	roject. For exam	ple, it will measure the	dge and participation, as well a extent to which participants in the field and participation survey	crease their involvement, re
Disaggregation is by gender							
Name: Area under agro- forestry schemes (Hectare)		Hectare(H a)	0.00	200.00	Annual	Field Surveys	NEA
improved capacity of target of the project. Forest area refers to two zo	beneficiaries (I	earning by do	oing approach	). This indicator i	measures the number o	ial support provided by sub-pro of hectares of gazetted forests	that will be restored as a re
						viduals or communities engage cit provisions and actions that v	
Sub-projects are initiatives i by the NEA.	dentified and le	ed by local co	mmunities re	lated to natural r	esources management	and financed by the Project th	rough sub-projects manage
Name: People in the targeted forest and adjacent communities with increased monetary		Number	0.00	1100.00	Annual	Field Surveys	NEA

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measure	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection
from forests, disaggregated by gender (Number)							

Description: This indicator measures the extent to which local people have seen improved livelihoods as a result of the project intervention. This indicator captures the scale of sub-projects/activities' impact, including both monetary and non-monetary benefits, as well as incentivizing active participation and involvement of women. The indicator includes both monetary income and non-monetary benefits such as access rights, tenure security, increased cultural values, improved understanding or awareness of forest-climate policies and negotiations, etc.

Benefits of targeted and adjacent communities will only be measured for direct and indirect participants in sub-projects.

Monetary benefits include an increase in income, number of jobs, and other benefits that are identified in the Project Implementation Manual (PIM).

Non-monetary benefits include the perception of better access to forest and forests products and perception of better management of forest resources and others identified in the Project Implementation Manual (PIM).

People are those who directly participate in interventions funded by the DGM and derive benefits from them. Persons who benefit from interventions without directly participating in the activity will not be counted (i.e., community members receiving media outreach or radio broadcasts funded by DGM). During the estimation of the number of people trained, double counting will be avoided, i.e. if the same individual participates in a series of similar training events he/she is counted only once.

Disaggregation is by gender.

## **Intermediate Results Indicators**

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measur e	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection
Name: Local people with improved knowledge of the FIP and other REDD+ processes, disaggregated by gender (Percent)		Percentag e	0.00	75.00	Annual	Field Surveys	NEA

Description: This indicator measures the effectiveness of the training activities from the capacity building learning events with respect to the FIP and REDD+ related processes.

Knowledge relates to technical capacity and skills, related on one hand to: business development and value chains, organizational management and finance, policy planning and advocacy; and on the other hand, to: sustainable resource management, agriculture, conservation and ecological issues.

Participants with improved knowledge are measured by those who perceive an increase in capacity and skills as described above as a result of the Project, measured through field surveys conducted by the NEA.

Disaggregation is by gender.

Name: NSC members with increased capacity,	N	Number	0.00	15.00	Annual	Surveys	NEA
disaggregated by gender							
(Number)							

Description: This indicator measures the participation in training activities of the National Steering Committee members.

NSC participants are defined as individuals who are members of the National Steering Committee.

NSC members that received training are measured by those who participated in DGM organized training activities as described above as a result of the Project, measured

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measur e	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection
through surveys conducted	by the NEA.						
Increased capacity of the Ni and national/international t					n-making skills, monitoring o	f sub-projects, grievance proce	sses, technical trainin
Name: People with enhanced knowledge on formulating sub-project grants disaggregated by gender (Percent)		Percentag e	0.00	70.00	Annual	Field Surveys	NEA
Description: This indicator r sub-projects.	neasures the ef	fectiveness o	of the training a	ctivities on the	grant proposal writing for po	tential applications to receive f	unding from the DGM
·	vledge of DGM	sub-project {	grant proposals	are measured b	•	grant proposal writing. rease in capacity and skills in DO	GM micro-project grar

Targeted beneficiaries are communities in two project areas, project beneficiaries that receive financial support with a signed financial agreement and with funds transferred to a bank account held by them.

Sub-projects are initiatives led by local communities related to sustainable forest and land management (agriculture, forest-related value chains, and restoration, among others) and financed through grants managed by the NEA.

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measur e	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection
Name: Share of women among community subproject beneficiaries (Percent)		Percentag e	0.00	50.00	Annual	Review of implementation reports	NEA

Description: This indicator captures the percentage of women sub-project beneficiaries.

This is measured through a review of the NEA monitoring reports and evaluation of sub-project implementation.

Name: % of sub-projects successfully completed and achieving their objectives	Percentag 0.00 e	75.00 Annual	Review of implementation and financial reports	NEA
--	---------------------	--------------	--	-----

Description: This indicator that measures the level of success of sub-projects funded through DGM, promoting learning on what worked and what did not, and applying lessons learned to future project design and implementation.

This indicator will be assessed "if the sub-project successfully completed and achieved their objectives", based on the following criteria; (i) activity completed; (ii) funds disbursed; and (iii) results achieved.

Sub-projects are initiatives identified and led by local communities related to natural resources management and financed by the Project through grants managed by the NEA.

Activities completed: All activities presented in the proposal of the sub-project are completed within the project period.

Results Achieved: Target(s) of indicator(s) on the sub-project objective is mostly achieved.

To be considered as "successfully completed and achieved their objectives", the sub-project needs to fulfill both criteria, as documented the by National Executive Agency (NEA) and reviewed by National Steering Committee (NSC) in the country.

Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measur e	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility fo Data Collection
Funds disbursed refers to t	the allocated fur	nds for each s	sub-project th	at have been disk	oursed.		
Mostly achieved refers to ulfill both criteria, as mea		•				d and achieved their objectives," the mentation.	subproject needs to
Name: Grievances registered related to the delivery of project benefits that are actually addressed (Percentage)		Percentag e	0.00	100.00	Annual	Review of GRM monitoring platform	NEA
			Grievances Re	dress Mechanism	ո (GRM). It is a simple լ	percentage of (a) the number of griev	ances made and (b) t
number of these grievance Grievance registered include grant award decision, rep	es that are addre des all local com presentation in t	essed. munities and the National S	I other affecte Steering Comr	ed stakeholders' g mittee (NSC) or G	grievances registered i llobal Steering Commit	n the Project's, Grievance and Redress tee (GSC), or the governance of the D	s Mechanism related GM.
number of these grievance Grievance registered include a grant award decision, rep Actually addressed are tho applied by the NEA.	es that are addrested and set all local compresentation in the set are grievances the set and manual estab	essed. munities and the National S nat are addres	I other affecte Steering Comr	ed stakeholders' g mittee (NSC) or G ly manner, accord	grievances registered in libraries of the libraries of the libraries to be ding to guidelines to be	n the Project's, Grievance and Redres:	s Mechanism related GM. Procedures that will b

	Indicator Name	Corporate	Unit of Measur e	Baseline	End Target	Frequency	Data Source / Methodology	Responsibility for Data Collection	
--	----------------	-----------	------------------------	----------	------------	-----------	------------------------------	---------------------------------------	--

Description: This indicator measures the satisfaction percentage with respect to the project's intervention focus.

Satisfaction relates to the percentage of whether project interventions are effective and meet the demand of project beneficiaries.

Beneficiaries are those that participated in capacity building events or those that implement DGM sub-projects. This is measured through a review of surveys by the NEA.

## **Target Values**

## **Project Development Objective Indicators**

Indicator Name	End Target
% of DGM participants with an increased role in the FIP and other REDD + processes at local, national or global levels, disaggregated by gender (Percent)	75.00
Area under agro-forestry schemes (Hectare)	200.00
People in the targeted forest and adjacent communities with increased monetary or non-monetary benefits from forests, disaggregated by gender (Number)	1100.00

## **Intermediate Results Indicators**

Indicator Name	End Target
Local people with improved knowledge of the FIP and other REDD+ processes, disaggregated by gender (Percent)	75.00
NSC members with increased capacity, disaggregated by gender (Number)	15.00
People with enhanced knowledge on formulating sub-project grants disaggregated by gender (Percent)	70.00
Sub-projects provided to targeted beneficiaries under the project (Number)	75.00
Share of women among community sub-project beneficiaries (Percent)	50.00
% of sub-projects successfully completed and achieving their objectives	75.00

Indicator Name	End Target
Grievances registered related to the delivery of project benefits that are actually addressed (Percentage)	100.00
Satisfaction of beneficiaries (Level of commitment disaggregated by gender and age) (Percent)	70.00

### **ANNEX A: Detailed Project Description**

## COUNTRY: CÔTE D'IVOIRE DEDICATED GRANT MECHANISM FOR LOCAL COMMUNITIES

#### Background

- 1. The Dedicated Grant Mechanism for Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities (DGM) is a global initiative that was conceived and developed as a special window under the Forest Investment Program (FIP) for providing grants to Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities (IPLCs) intended to enhance IPLCs capacity in FIP and other REDD+ processes at the local, national, and global levels.
- 2. Projects and programs under the FIP are designed and implemented under the leadership of the governments of FIP countries,<sup>12</sup> with the assistance of the World Bank (WB). The DGM Design was developed by a working group of IPLCs, facilitated by the Climate Investment Funds' (CIF) Administrative Unit (AU). The program is implemented in FIP countries through Country Grants Projects under an overarching umbrella of a Global Component, which serves as the learning and knowledge-exchange platform for the DGM. The World Bank has the responsibility to operationalize the Global Component as well as the Country Grants Projects in FIP countries. The Framework Guidelines<sup>13</sup> for the DGM define the common framework for implementation of the DGM and serve as guidance to all stakeholders participating in the program, including FIP Focal Points in the countries, National Executing Agencies (NEAs), members of National Steering Committees (NSCs), the Global Executing Agency (GEA) and Global Steering Committee (GSC) of the DGM, civil society, IPLCs, CIF AU and the World Bank.
- 3. The DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire is a five-year stand-alone project that has strong synergies with the FIP in Côte d'Ivoire, currently implemented by the World Bank and the African Development Bank in support of Côte d'Ivoire's REDD+ program. The DGM project in Côte d'Ivoire is consistent with FIP objectives and is fully aligned with FIP projects in Côte d'Ivoire, complementing FIP's aim to promote sustainable forest and land management.
- 4. The DGM Côte d'Ivoire has a funding envelope of US\$4.5 million in grant resources and will be executed by the NEA with the oversight of the NSC and the World Bank. The NEA will report to the NSC and GSC, as well as to the World Bank, on progress, safeguards, and fiduciary aspects of the program.
- 5. The DGM Côte d'Ivoire focuses on two zones in the Center and South-West regions compromising

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Brazil, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of Congo, Ghana, Guatemala, Indonesia, Mexico, Mozambique, Nepal and Peru.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Framework Operational Guidelines for the DGM could be found here: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/550abd2ce4b0c5557aa4f772/t/550adcbae4b0178d56b4c7d3/1426775226201/13-09-12DGMGuidelines-website.pdf

approximately 344,786 people. The project aims to test agroforestry schemes to reduce pressure on forest resources. As part of the project preparation process, 311 communities were already engaged in preparation of the FIP Investment Plan.

To achieve the goals of DGM Côte d'Ivoire, the project will work at three levels:

- At the global level, the project aims to: (i) support the organization and facilitation of knowledge exchanges, learning, and capacity-building on REDD+ and climate change issues of the NSC, and (ii) to strengthen the networks and alliances of local communities and community organizations within and across regions to enhance their representation and voice in regional and global spaces. These goals will be achieved through strengthening the participation of local communities in national and international multi-stakeholder policy-dialogue platforms.
- At the regional level, the project will focus on two zones of Côte d'Ivoire -- Center and South-West
   -- where the DGM Côte d'Ivoire aims to enhance informed participation and to influence communities in decision-making processes related to sustainable natural resources management.
   This will be achieved by strengthening the capacity of local communities through awareness-raising, training, and workshops.
- At the local level, the project will operate within the two targeted zones of Center and South-West
  regions. The project aims to increase the capacity of local communities through subprojects using
  a "learning by doing" approach. Selected participants will receive financial and technical support
  to implement subprojects.
- 6. The project has three components:
  - Component 1: Capacity-building for local communities;
  - Component 2: Development and implementation of a performance-based system to reduce pressure on forest resources;
  - Component 3: Project management, monitoring, and communication.

### Component 1: Capacity-building for local communities (estimated amount US\$0.6 million)

- 7. Component 1 will finance workshops, training, awareness-raising campaigns, a knowledge management specialist/master trainer, a natural resources/climate change expert, four to six field level staff, training materials and venues, radio campaigns, transportation costs to training venues and locations, vehicles (one per region), and motorcycles (one per region) for field work, operation and maintenance of the vehicles, and other costs associated with training sessions and workshops.
- 8. <u>Capacity-building</u>. Training sessions will take place in the project zones. Component 1 will impact at least 11,000 people. Prior to capacity-building learning activities, the NEA will conduct a community-level assessment to determine a socio-cultural baseline, as well as a knowledge baseline pertaining to REDD+, sustainable forest management, and climate change.

- 9. General Training. This is the widest part of the project seeking to capture most of the beneficiaries. Awareness-raising will focus on informing the communities about the project, its objectives, and the components and will provide a general overview of REDD+ issues and climate change and their linkages to human activities, including the long-term impact on livelihoods. Marginalized members of society (women and youth) will be encouraged to participate. The training may include radio, media, and other awareness-raising campaigns. By the end of general awareness-raising, most of the 11,000 targeted beneficiaries will know about the project and its aims, but more important they will be able to outline key basic messages about REDD+, SFM, climate change, and both how their livelihoods impact deforestation and how deforestation may impact their livelihoods over the short-, medium-, and long-terms. Additionally, each person will understand about three to four ways that deforestation negatively impacts their livelihoods and well-being. They will also be able to list ways to reduce deforestation and the impacts of climate change on their lives.
- 10. In addition, the NEA will choose several locations for intensive training sessions that specifically target women, youth, and vulnerable populations. The training will be prepared by the NRM and knowledge specialists, and be guided by an approved training plan and methodology. Field assistants will be skilled in conducting field-level training in a pedagogically interactive manner. Finally, the NEA and NSC will also select a subgroup of extension-service workers to undergo training to ensure that even after the project ends, the same messages are being reinforced. It should be clear to participants that (i) general training for community members is a prerequisite for applying for a subproject grant, and (ii) one has to be a member of the two regions of the project in order to apply for a subproject grant.
- 11. Additionally, special technical assistance for the selection of subgrants under the performance-based incentive system will be provided to subproject benaficieries, as well as NEA. During the implementation of subprojects, ongoing assistance will be provided which will support beneficieries throughout the implementation of the performance-based scheme, which will help to reduce the risk of noncompliance in subproject execution. The purpose of general training is as follows:
  - a. To bring community members to the same level of understanding about REDD+, sustainable forest management practices and climate change, and how their activities on the ground are linked to these concepts, both locally, nationally, and globally. It is essential to ensure the relevance of the training to community livelihoods by highlighting the linkages between negative and positive human activities and the impacts on natural resources, climate change, and REDD+.
  - b. To ensure that communities understand that there is a link between what is being learned about sustainable forest management practices, climate change, and REDD+ and why grantees are receiving grants for subprojects.
  - c. To teach communities to make long-term decisions by thinking about the consequences of each action in the short-, medium-, and long-term as a basis for rationalizing natural resource-related decisions.
  - d. To ensure that a broad segment of society is part of this learning process, for example, women, the poor, traditional rulers, and other farmers.
- 12. To ensure uptake and understanding of the general training messages, it is essential to plan the training and emphasize its relevance to the daily lives of community members. For this reason, the general training sessions should: (i) be hands-on and field-based (for example, conducted in the field,

where targeted communities reside); (ii) be conducted in the local language; (iii) use videos and films for issues that need to be understood outside of the community setting; (iv) be conducted at all levels of the community, including elders, women, youth, and community-based organizations; (v) use local means of communication such as radio, cell phones, newspapers, and so forth, to spread critical messages; and (vi) allow for discussion and bottom-up learning, because communities have considerable relevant traditional knowledge to share.

- 13. Specialized basic training for women. As part of the aim to ensure female participation at all levels, a special basic training session will be dedicated to women. The training will focus on the typical content of basic training and will add a course on female leadership in natural resource management and the role women can play to protect forest resources for the welfare of their families and communities. After the training, the women will be presented with a certificate of participation. Women can choose whether to attend the regular general training along with men or to attend these women-only training sessions.
- 14. NSC training. Special training will be provided to the NSC members of the DGM Côte d'Ivoire project with a focus on decision-making skills, monitoring, grievance processes, and technical training. Additionally, NSC members will participate in South-South exchanges, and international, regional, and national conferences and meetings.
- 15. Training for writing/developing sub-project proposals. Component 1 will also finance short training sessions for the preparation of the individual, community, and community-based organization (CBO) window proposals. The training will be offered to interested recent graduates of the general training who wish to apply for a grant. It will focus on the following topics: (a) investment options, according to thematic areas outlined, and including any other investments the communities are interested in that are related to the themes; (b) assessment (through discussion) of the type of activities the communities, CBOs, and individuals would want to engage in; (c) how to assess the costs and benefits of the proposed activities; and (d) how to fill in the proposal forms developed by the NEA and NSC. Where literacy is a factor, the NEA staff will have a discussion and come to oral agreement with the potential grantee, and afterwards will fill out the form for them. By the end of the training sessions, all proposals will be ready for submission. The goal of this training is to prepare community members to apply for grant funding for subprojects. This training will only be on a volunteer basis to support those interested in applying for a subproject.
- 16. All training sessions will be assessed on their effectiveness and potential for behavior change leading towards better and sustained management of forest resources.

# Component 2: <u>Development and implementation of a performance-based system to reduce pressure on forest resources (estimated amount US\$3.2 million)</u>

17. This component aims to increase the capacity of local communities to implement activities on the ground through a "learning by doing" approach, and to perform agroforestry activities in the project areas in a manner that reduces pressure on forest resources. This will contribute to reducing deforestation and promoting sustainable management of natural resources and livelihoods improvement. Component 2 will utilize the performance-based system to support subprojects,

leading to on-the-ground capacity-building of local communities. To achieve these objectives, selected beneficiaries within project target areas will receive a package of incentives, made up of capacity-building, technical assistance, and financing for agroforestry subprojects.

- 18. It is expected that the DGM Côte d'Ivoire will support subprojects that contribute to increasing rural income and reducing deforestation. These subprojects will simultaneously foster sustainable land use and natural resource management, promote economic activities and rural livelihood development practices, and enhance climate-change mitigation and adaptation.
- 19. Subprojects are expected to support: (i) an initial supply of seedlings to individuals or communities engaged in the DGM; (ii) subgrant payments triggered first, by the introduction of a certain number of plants onto landholdings (for example, 50 to 100 per hectare, on the basis of a fixed price per planted tree), and second, by a survival rate at the end of a specified period (up to five years); and (iii) long-term tree conservation. Performance-based contracts will be established between the beneficiaries and the DGM project with explicit provisions and actions that trigger payments to subprojects. The Côte d'Ivoire DGM will support subprojects, but not limited to, the following activities (i) establishment of nurseries; (ii) environmental education; iii) forest regeneration and reforestation; (iv) sustainable forest management of timber and non-timber products; (v) agroforestry; (v) climate-smart agriculture; (vi) water resource management; and community forest management.
- 20. Component 2 will include culturally-appropriate training sessions and technical assistance to support financed subprojects. This technical assistance is designed to facilitate the grantees in the preparation and/or actual implementation of subprojects, and will, therefore, be tailored to ensure effectiveness in meeting beneficiary capacity needs. Where possible, subproject proposals should identify the type of technical assistance requested. For example, in the case of subproject beneficiaries who require financial and managerial skills, technical support may include project development, preparation of business plans, partnership development, networking, market identification, access to credit and financial resource avenues, and so forth. For subproject beneficiaries who require technical skills, technical assistance may include sustainable forest and land management practices, adoption of new technologies, agricultural and environmental conservation, and participatory natural resource management, among others.
- 21. The NSC and NEA will select the DGM Côte d'Ivoire subprojects for financing based on a selection process, including eligibility and selection criteria. The NSC's by-laws and operational procedures also detail the procedures to be applied. The NEA will conduct a screening of the first round of simplified proposals based on the eligibility criteria. Shortlisted applicants will be invited to submit full project proposals, with the NEA providing technical assistance where necessary. The NSC will deliberate on all project proposals using the selection criteria and make a final selection on the subprojects to be financed. The NEA will enter into a subgrant agreement with subproject beneficiaries, and the NEA will procure goods and services on behalf of subproject beneficiaries for the subprojects' implementation, including training and technical assistance, as needed. Performance-based contracts will be established between the beneficiaries and the DGM project with explicit provisions and actions that will trigger payments to subprojects. The subprojects will be signed by men and women, and will not be tied to land ownership (because that could exclude women from obtaining the benefits of the

program).

- 22. Subprojects supported under this component will pay particular attention to gender issues. It is expected that at least 50 percent of the funds from the subprojects will be dedicated to women for specific targeted activities. This provision will be included in the Project Implementation Manual (PIM).
- 23. This component will also include an innovative approach to data access of the subprojects. The Côte d'Ivoire DGM project will include a technological approach to improve the transparency of disbursements while also making the process more efficient. For example, the project will include designing an online network which will allow actors along the development chain (including donors, recipients, NSC, NEA, GEA and the World Bank) to simultaneously track information about subprojects and how they are progressing and to show the flow of funding. It will allow all participants in the network to view the same information at the same time. This would also lead to inclusive, transparent, equitable, and gender-balanced processes.
- 24. Côte d'Ivoire DGM subprojects are to be aligned with the Global DGM and FIP's core objectives. All proposals within this component will be screened to ensure compliance with the World Bank's Operational Policies on environmental and social safeguards as well as with Ivorian legislation pertaining to land, natural resources, and communities.
- 25. The project will not support a number of activities, including:
  - Activities involving the purchase of land that are to be undertaken on lands under dispute, or are related to the adjudication of lands under dispute;
  - b. Activities adversely affecting local communities, or where communities have not provided their broad support to such activities;
  - c. Activities that may promote involuntary physical and economic displacement;
  - d. Activities leading to restriction of access to natural resources, unless there is evidence that these restrictions have been agreed to through transparent and inclusive participatory community decision-making processes which have provided for identification of measures to mitigate adverse impacts on the most vulnerable members of the community and which lead to broad community support;
  - e. Removal or alteration of any physical cultural property (including sites having archeological, paleontological, historical, religious, or unique natural values);
  - f. Conversion, deforestation, or degradation or any other alteration of natural forests or natural habitats;
  - g. Activities related to commercialization of illegal timber and nontimber products; or to the purchase and use of formulated products that fall in World Health Organization (WHO) classes IA and IB, or formulations of products in Class II, if they are likely to be used by, or be accessible to, lay personnel, farmers, or others without training, equipment, and facilities to handle, store, and apply these products properly;
  - h. Financing of elections or election campaigning;
  - Construction and/or restoration of religious buildings;
  - j. Purchase of tobacco, alcoholic beverages, and other drugs; and,

k. Purchase of firearms or ammunition.

# Component 3: Project Management, Monitoring, and Communication (estimated amount US\$0.7 million)

- 26. This component will support the management, coordination, monitoring, and communication of project activities. This component covers the incremental operational and managerial costs of the NEA to carry out its tasks and overall responsibilities. In its role as the project NEA, Care International's responsibilities include: i) financial management, procurement, and auditing; ii) technical coordination, monitoring, and evaluation; iii) implementation supervision of community initiatives and results assessments; iv) reporting on technical progress, results indicators, fiduciary management and safeguards compliance to the World Bank, the NSC, the FIP coordination unit in Côte d'Ivoire, the DGM GEA, and the DGM GSC (twice a year); and v) design and implementation of the Côte d'Ivoire DGM GRM.
- 27. The component also covers the incremental costs for the design and implementation of a robust M&E system and an efficient project-related GRM. The GRM will be culturally appropriate and able to address and resolve in a timely manner any project-related grievances as per the DGM Operational Guidelines. The GRM will build on the GRMs implemented by other projects within the World Bank's Côte d'Ivoire portfolio.
- 28. Expected outputs include: (i) the overall management of the project; (ii) M&E of project implementation; (iii) operationalization of the GRM; and (iv) communication. The project will finance staff, consultants, goods, and operational costs.
- 29. The Côte d'Ivoire DGM will also be supported by the Global DGM project, particularly in the areas of global learning and knowledge exchange.

#### **ANNEX B: Institutional Arrangements**

## COUNTRY: CÔTE D'IVOIRE DEDICATED GRANT MECHANISM FOR LOCAL COMMUNITIES

#### **Project Institutional and Implementation Arrangements**

 Côte d'Ivoire DGM will have a National Steering Committee (NSC) and a National Executing Agency (NEA). The NEA and the Global Executing Agency (GEA) will support the NSC and GSC in executing the program, and will have fiduciary oversight. In accordance with the Global DGM guidelines, the Côte d'Ivoire Dedicated Grant Mechanism (DGM) has developed a governance and management arrangement for handling coordination, partnership, and synergies. The NSC will oversee project implementation, with the NEA actually implementing the project (See Figure B.1 below).

National Steering **Global Steering** Committee Committee World World Global Executing National Executing Bank Agency in FIP Country Bank Agency Knowledge Exchange / strengthen regional & global networks of Indigenous Grantees-Indigenous Peoples and local communities in FIP Country Resource Flow Reporting Supervision Information & liaising

Figure B.1. DGM Architecture

2. The NSC in Côte d'Ivoire will oversee the Côte d'Ivoire DGM implementation. The NSC, assisted by the NEA CARE International, will provide a semi-annual progress report to the GSC on the implementation of the program. The NSC's main functions will be to select proposals and award grants for subprojects, and monitor progress of the Côte d'Ivoire project and subprojects. The NSC will participate in national REDD+ coordination committees or their equivalent in the country and ensure that DGM lessons are transmitted back to inform other ongoing national processes. The NSC will actively seek feedback from local communities on the program, identify needs, and collect and send ideas to the GSC to be supported by the Global Component.

- 3. One or two NSC members will participate as members in the GSC. NSC members will be representatives from local communities, balanced to the extent possible by geographic area, community, and gender. As appropriate, a government representative will be a member of the NSC. In addition, NSC will have observers from civil society and the private sector. A representative of the NEA will support NSC meetings.
- 4. Government members will provide inputs during these meetings on technical soundness, operational feasibility, and alignment of proposals with national policies. They will also help the NSC to link DGM activities with relevant rural development/forestry programs in Côte d'Ivoire in order to strengthen synergies and explore cofinancing for activities. They will enable the NSC to establish linkages with FIP activities in Côte d'Ivoire, as well as with national or regional REDD+ committees and climate-change programs, so as to enhance learning and outreach. They will participate in the decision-making process for strategic NSC decisions but will not take part in the selection of grant proposals for subproject funding by DGM Côte d'Ivoire, which will be decided solely by NSC members.
- 5. The World Bank (WB) will also be a member of the NSC as an observer. The WB member will provide guidance on technical soundness and feasibility of the proposals and on their alignment with WB policies. The WB member will not take part in the decision-making process of the NSC with respect to selection of grant proposals for funding.
- 6. CARE International, the NEA, will be the secretariat for the NSC. Selection of the NEA was done through a competitive process administered by the World Bank and the Government of Côte d'Ivoire. The NEA is a not-for-profit and nonstate organization that meets the programmatic, fiduciary, and safeguards requirements of the World Bank. The NEA will facilitate the work of the NSC, develop country-specific review and risk assessment criteria, and provide operational and financial reporting to the WB. The NEA will be responsible for disbursing grant funds to subprojects selected by the NSC as well as for monitoring subprojects and ensuring appropriate use of DGM funds, in accordance with the operational and safeguards policies of the WB. The NEA will report to the WB. The NEA will complement the DGM Operational Guidelines with country-specific procedures and update them as needed so that the DGM procedures are tailored to respond to national circumstances and requirements. Other NEA responsibilities will also include: maintaining documentation for the Côte d'Ivoire DGM project; following the communications strategy in coordination with the GEA; managing grievance and complaint redress processes; responding promptly to queries; and coordinating with the GEA and sending information, as requested, to the GEA.
- 7. The Global Steering Committee (GSC) will provide intellectual and policy leadership to and monitor the overall implementation of the DGM. It will report to the FIP SC on the progress of the program. The GSC also has an important role in external interactions with contributor countries and other partners to advocate for IPLCs in international forums on issues involving climate change and REDD+. Representatives of the GSC will also assist in disseminating information and raising awareness about the DGM in their countries and in identifying opportunities for additional resources and expansion of the program. The GSC will ensure that lessons derived from the program are widely disseminated. The GSC will mediate complaint and grievance issues if requested by the NSC. The GSC will also approve the annual work program to be implemented by the GEA for the Global Component.

#### Membership of the GSC will be as follows:

- 8. Decision-making Members: One IPLC representative from each FIP pilot country and one representative from a non-FIP pilot country. One additional IPLC representative shall be selected as an alternate and, if needed, called upon to attend GSC meetings or otherwise execute GSC functions.
- 9. Non-decision-making Members: Two representatives from FIP pilot country governments; two from multilateral development banks (MDB) including the World Bank and one other MDB); one from the FCPF Facility Management Team (FMT)/UN-REDD Secretariat; and one from the CIF AU. The role of non-decision-making Members is to provide expert advice and inputs on technical and global REDD+ and climate change policy issues in the discussions and also to recommend experts to the GSC. Non-decision-making members may request the addition of items to the agenda and propose linkages of the Global Component with DGM and other REDD+ activities in countries. They can voice concern that an activity or program proposed for decision by the GSC is not consistent with the DGM Design Document, and they can appeal to the FIP Subcommittee acting as the governing body of the FIP, of which the DGM is part.

#### The Secretary to the Committee will be the representative of the Global Executing Agency.

- 10. The GEA will provide secretariat functions for the GSC. The GEA will carry out the agreed activities of the Global Component and will have responsibility for the overall communications and outreach activities of the DGM. It will coordinate actively with the NEAs in the FIP pilot countries to monitor and document implementation progress, and to coordinate knowledge and learning exchange activities. The GEA will provide liaison with global partners working on similar issues to enhance synergies and learning opportunities through the DGM.
- 11. The GEA will facilitate a grievance redress and complaints mechanism on behalf of the GSC. For implementation of the Global Component, the GEA will seek approval of its work plan by the World Bank and report to the World Bank on the program, including on fiduciary aspects. The GEA will implement activities of the Global Component in compliance with the World Bank's operational policies, including safeguards.

#### **Grievance and Redress Mechanism (GRM)**

- 12. In accordance with the DGM Framework Operational Guidelines, a GRM will be established by the NEA. The processes and procedures of the GRM shall ensure that all complaints received from local communities and other interested stakeholders related to project implementation will: (i) have a properly written record; (ii) receive timely resolution of issues; and (iii) be publicly reported (with regard to complaints received and actions taken on each complaint). Regardless of the nature of the grievance, the NEA shall ensure that a transparent, timely, and fair process is adopted to address each complaint.
- 13. The NEA will use and adapt to its specific needs the common GRM that has been established for all projects included in the World Bank's Côte d'Ivoire programs. A manual of procedures, a monitoring system, and a communication strategy will be prepared.

- 14. The project will use the same channels for the collection of grievances as the previously mentioned GRM. The focal point for Côte d'Ivoire DGM's GRM will be CARE International's safeguards specialist. The levels for resolution of grievances will be discussed and agreed upon with the NSC. It is expected that the NEA will resolve the majority of grievances. When the NEA cannot resolve the issue, the grievance will be elevated to the NSC. If the NSC cannot resolve the issue, it will be elevated to the GSC. If the complaint is related to the NSC's decisions on grant applications, the complaint will be referred to the NSC. If it relates to World Bank policies, a World Bank staff member may be invited by the NSC to its meeting to interpret the relevant policy. If the complaint does not fall under the mandate of DGM operations at the country level, but relates to either (i) the policies of the DGM, (ii) the governance of the DGM in the country, or (iii) complaints that could not be resolved at lower levels, the matter will be taken to the GSC's Grievance Subcommittee, which will be formed to handle escalated grievances.
- 15. The monitoring platform under the common GRM will be used. The NEA will record all complaints received in a publicly accessible online system that will allow complaints to be tracked and monitored. All feedback and complaints received will be displayed on the DGM website in an appropriate manner, depending on local circumstances.
- 16. In each instance, the written response will indicate which entity (for example, NEA, NSC or GSC) will handle the complaint. That entity will then seek agreement with the complainant on the approach to be followed. The parties will engage in the process, implement the agreed actions, and record the outcome. Alternatively, the parties could be unwilling or unable to engage in the process. In this instance, the complainant will be offered the options of taking the matter to the next level, that is, NSC or GSC, referring the issue for mediation, or closure. The appropriate entity will record all outcomes in writing. It is expected that resolution and closure should occur within 30 days of receipt of the initial complaint at the staff level.
- 17. Regardless of where a complaint is handled (that is, at staff, NEA, NSC, or GSC levels), the dedicated staff member will prepare a brief written note on the options discussed with the complainant(s) and the agreed action(s) to be taken to resolve the issue. Following implementation of the agreed action(s), the outcome will be recorded (that is, resolution and/or closure) and both parties will sign the document. Whether agreements are reached through direct conversations or mediation, all supporting documents of meetings needed to achieve resolution should be part of the file related to the complaint. At all stages of the process, the NEA will keep the World Bank team informed and maintain a comprehensive record of all correspondence and decisions on the issue. The abovementioned grievance and complaint mechanisms are to be conducted without prejudice to any additional mechanism established by the World Bank to address related issues of damage.

18. The NEA will ensure easy access to culturally appropriate information about the Côte d'Ivoire DGM and its GRM. The contact persons and contact channels will be disclosed in the NEA and GEA websites. They will also be disseminated through information-sharing meetings organized by the NEA in each region, and through radio and other culturally appropriate means of communication. All documents and reports related to the implementation of the Côte d'Ivoire DGM will be translated into French and available on the NEA website. The NEA will also maintain open lines of communication and actively reach out to stakeholders. The NEA will regularly review feedback received, respond to questions and comments on the websites, and report to the NSC and GSC on actions taken.

#### **Financial Management, Disbursements and Procurement**

- 19. The World Bank's FM assessment concluded that Care International's FM arrangements meet the World Bank's minimum requirements under Bank Policy and Bank Directive for IPF. The overall residual risk rating is Substantial.
- 20. A financial management capacity assessment has been conducted in-line with the Financial Management Practice Manual for World Bank-Financed Investment Operations, which became effective on December 11, 2014. The objective of the assessment was to determine whether FIE has in place acceptable financial management arrangements to ensure that: (i) the funds will be used only for their intended purposes in an efficient and economical way; (ii) accurate and timely periodic financial reports will be prepared; and (iii) the assets will be safeguarded.
- 21. The findings of the FM capacity assessment of CARE International Côte d' Ivoire conducted in December 2018 revealed that the NGO has made acceptable FM arrangements, including having staffing and tools in place to manage the resources of the DGM operation. The FM team is headed by a qualified and experienced Finance Manager, but the entire team needs further capacity strengthening relating to Bank FM procedures and requirements. The NGO has had past experiences in implementing well-known donor-financed operations such as Global Funds, AfDB, WBG, UNICEF and the European Union (EU). They have in place an acceptable FM procedures manual and the accounting software "PEOPLESOFT". The financial statements of donor-financed projects are regularly audited by reputable auditing firms that are acceptable to the World Bank. The auditors expressed a clean opinion (unqualified) on the 2015, 2016, and 2017 annual accounts of projects implemented by the NGO. However, the management letters prepared by the auditor following completion of the audits raised some concerns, including about some weaknesses in internal controls, and about minor ineligible expenditures. The action plans developed following these audits have been or are being implemented.
- 22. The use of the FM team of CARE International Côte d Ivoire FM to manage the financial management aspects of the project will enable the establishment of a financial fiduciary management system for the project that satisfies the Bank's minimum requirements under Bank policy and directives regarding investment project financing (IPF). Based on the findings of the assessment, the following actions are required to ensure effective FM systems: (i) strengthening the capacity of the FM team, primarily by appointing a dedicated FM staff assigned to the project who is familiar with WB FM procedures; (ii) opening a Designated Account (DA) in an acceptable commercial bank in Abidjan capable of receiving funds from the World Bank; and (iii) drafting of a short Note as an Annex to the existing FM Manual to reflect the Bank's FM procedures and requirements. These actions are to be

- completed in a timely manner to help implement the project: actions (i) and (iii) are conditions of effectiveness of the TF; actions (ii) is dated covenants and should be implemented not later than two months after the effective date of the project.
- 23. The NGO will be required to prepare and submit to the World Bank the following reports and documents: (i) an annual work program and budget (AWPB) not later than November 30 of the year preceding the year the work plan should be implemented; (ii) quarterly unaudited interim financial reports (IFR) within 45 days following the end of each calendar quarter; and (iii) audited annual financial statements not later than 6 months following the end of each fiscal year.
- 24. Disbursements. Upon the effective date of the TF (Grant), transaction-based disbursements will be used. The project will finance 100 percent of eligible expenditures inclusive of taxes. A DA in XOF will be opened in a commercial bank located in Côte d'Ivoire under terms and conditions acceptable to the World Bank. The ceiling of the DA will be stated in the Disbursement and Financial Information Letter (DFIL) and will represent four to six months of forecasted project expenditures expected to be paid from the DA during Year 1 and based on the AWPB of Year 1. An initial advance up to the ceiling of the DA will be made, and subsequent disbursements will be made against submission of a Statement of Expenditures (SOE) reporting on the use of the initial/previous advance. The option to disburse against submission of quarterly unaudited IFRs (also known as report-based disbursements) may be considered once the project meets the related criteria. Other methods of disbursing the funds (for example, reimbursement, direct payment, and special commitment) will also be available to the project. The minimum value of applications for these methods is 20 percent of the DA's ceiling. The project will sign and submit Withdrawal Applications electronically using the eSignatures module accessible from the World Bank's Client Connection website. The NGO will then transfer money to communities/beneficiaries of project funds and contractors/service providers based on the contracts and MOU associated with the AWPB. The criteria for payment and reimbursement will be detailed in the PIM. The NGO will consider the findings of the internal auditor and of World Bank and External Auditors while approving the requests for subsequent replenishment of communities/beneficiaries' subaccounts opened in a commercial bank. The FM team of the NGO will reserve the right to verify the expenditures ex-post, and refunds might be requested for no-respect of contractual/convention clauses. Misappropriated activities could result in the suspension of financing for a given community and/or implementing entity.
- 25. Based on the current risk assessment, which is rated Substantial, at least two full supervision missions are planned over the first year of the project implementation.
- 26. The project/CARE International Côte d'Ivoire will comply with the World Bank's disclosure policy of audit reports and place the information provided on the official website within two months of the report being accepted as final by the team and the World Bank.

#### Applicable procedures

27. Procurement for the proposed operation will be carried out in accordance with the World Bank Procurement Regulations for Borrowers under Investment Project Financing dated July 1, 2016, and the provisions stipulated in the Financing Agreement. The Guidelines on Preventing and Combating Fraud and Corruption in Projects Financed by IBRD Loans and IDA Credits and Grants, dated October

- 15, 2006, and revised in January 2011 and as of July 1, 2016, will also apply.
- 28. <u>Procurement strategy</u>. A simplified Project Procurement Strategy for Development (PPSD) have been prepared. The procurement plan will be entered by the borrower in the World Bank's Systematic Tracking of Exchanges in Procurement (STEP) and cleared by the World Bank.
- 29. <u>Procurement arrangements</u>. Considering the size of the activities, all of them small in value and complexity, under the PPSD, the main procurement methods to obtain goods, works, and services for the project will be shopping, direct selection, and consultant qualification selection. Any other procurement methods will be used in accordance with the requirements set forth or referred to in the Procurement Regulations, with due consideration to the core principles of the World Bank's procurement policy: value for money and fit-for-purpose.
- 30. Training-related expenditures mean the reasonable costs, approved by the World Bank, for expenses incurred in project preparation and coordination relating to training and workshops conducted under the project, including: (i)tuition, travel, and subsistence costs for training and workshop participants; (ii) costs associated with securing the services of trainers and workshop speakers; (iii) rental of training and workshop facilities; (iv) preparation and reproduction of training and workshop materials; (v) vehicles and motorcycles and (vi) other costs directly related to training courses and workshop preparation and implementation (but excluding goods and consultants' services). Procurable items must follow the adequate procurement or selection process in accordance with the paragraphs above.
- 31. Operating costs include reasonable incremental expenses, based on annual budgets approved by the World Bank, including office equipment and supplies, operation and maintenance of vehicles, maintenance of equipment, communication, rental, utilities, consumables, transport, accommodation, travel costs, and *per diem*. These contracts will be procured following the NEA's administrative procedures.
- 32. Procurement plan. The NEA will develop a procurement plan, acceptable to the World Bank for the first 18 months of project implementation with the basis for the procurement methods for each contract. Immediately upon approval of the Grant, with the Recipient's agreement and any needed revisions, the plan will be published on the World Bank's public website and the NEA's Intranet website. The procurement plan will be updated in agreement with the World Bank on an annual basis, or as required, to reflect the actual project implementation needs and improvements in institutional capacity. The recommended thresholds for the use of procurement and consultant selection methods will be stipulated in the Procurement Plan. The Procurement Plan will be managed through the World Bank's tracking system, STEP.

#### **Monitoring & Evaluation**

- 33. The Project's M&E system will generate timely information and analytical evidence required for assessing and managing the project's implementation performance and ensuring progress toward meeting the PDO and results.
- 34. The project's Results Framework (RF) defines the performance indicators and targets (at the outcome

level) for each component. These output indicators and targets provide the basis for monitoring systematic financing of priority project activities.

#### 35. The Project's M&E reports will include:

- Biannual Progress Reports: These reports will monitor and consolidate progress on key activities
  and outputs and will be produced on a biannual basis. These progress reports will provide useful
  inputs to support the six-month joint implementation support reviews that the World Bank will
  conduct. The World Bank will also request information, outside of the reporting schedule, should
  a conflict, grievance, or other event warrant it.
- Yearly Progress Reports: These reports will track and consolidate progress on key activities, outputs, and outcomes, and will be provided annually to key stakeholder participants.
- Mid-term review: Towards Year 3, an independent party, along with the WB and other
  implementing entities, will undertake a comprehensive mid-term review of the project that will
  focus on assessing progress being made in accomplishing the impact and outcome targets and
  corresponding indicators (with special attention paid to assessing the key indicators outlined in
  the RF). Selected thematic in-depth assessments will be identified in Year 3 and performed as
  evidenced-based inputs for the mid-term review (for example, assessing the emerging viability of
  the business plans that the project supports);
- Final Evaluation: Six months before the project is completed, an independent evaluation will be conducted with a special focus on identifying key operational lessons that can be used for designing the next project.
- 36. Project M&E will be the responsibility of an experienced M&E specialist, who will be a core member of the NEA project coordination team. The M&E specialist will work and coordinate closely with the relevant M&E specialists from the various departments and directorates at the provincial and district levels. The M&E specialists will be strengthened through strategic capacity-building activities financed under the project.

To facilitate the M&E system, the M&E specialist will prepare a project-level M&E manual as part of the Project Implementation Manual (PIM). The M&E manual will provide numerous details, including: the definition of the results framework; methodology and instruments to be used for data collection; institutional arrangements and responsibilities for M&E functions, including at provincial and district levels; the GRM; and mechanisms and arrangements for disseminating information.

## APPENDIX C: DGM NATIONAL STEERING COMMITTEE MEMBER ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

#### Préambule

- Le Projet DGM en Côte d'Ivoire est conduit par les communautés locales riveraines des forêts du pays sur l'initiative du Secrétariat exécutif de la REDD+ avec l'appui technique et financier de la Banque mondiale depuis 2015. Le processus a démarré avec plusieurs tournées/missions de sensibilisation, de concertation et d'échanges au niveau national et régional ayant abouti à la mise sur pied du Comité National de Pilotage du Projet.
- 2. L'objectif du projet est de développer la capacité et d'appuyer les initiatives spécifiques des communautés locales ciblées vivant autour des forêts classées en Côte d'Ivoire et à renforcer leur participation au FIP et à d'autres processus REDD + au niveau local et national.
- 3. A cet effet, il est attendu du projet, un impact transformationnel en termes de réduction de la déforestation et de la dégradation des forêts, à travers la mise en œuvre et le financement d'initiatives locales des communautés qui conduisent principalement à une :
  - réduction des émissions de GES dues au déboisement, à la déforestation et à la dégradation des forêts et une meilleure valorisation de leur productivité naturelle,
  - conservation de la biodiversité et l'amélioration de la résilience des écosystèmes forestiers au changement et à la variabilité du climat;
  - réduction de la pauvreté par une amélioration de la qualité de vie des populations qui dépendent des forêts;
  - amélioration des capacités des acteurs locaux.
- 4. Huit régions (Nawa, Guémon, San Pedro, Cavally, Iffou, Moronou, N'Zi et Gbêkê) cibles du PIF Côte d'Ivoire sous financement du Fonds d'Investissement Climatique (FIC) et exécuté par la Banque mondiale sont celles susceptibles d'accueillir les activités du projet DGM.
- 5. Le Comité National de Pilotage (CNP) du Projet DGM Côte d'Ivoire est l'organe suprême d'orientation de la mise en œuvre dudit projet. Le CNP a été mis en place le 24 novembre 2017, suite aux élections des membres statutaires par région et la désignation des membres observateurs par leurs structures respectives étatiques et non étatiques.
- 6. Le présent règlement intérieur du CNP précise et complète les directives opérationnelles du MÉCANISME SPÉCIAL DE DONS EN FAVEUR DES PEUPLES AUTOCHTONES ET DES POPULATIONS LOCALES (DGM) et porte sur les missions, composition, organisation et fonctionnement dudit comité.

#### **TITRE I: DISPOSITIONS GENERALES**

7. Article 1<sup>er</sup>: le présent règlement intérieur a pour objet de définir les missions et les modalités de fonctionnement du Comité National de Pilotage (CNP) du DGM de Côte d'Ivoire, mis en place le 24 novembre 2017 à Abidjan.

#### TITRE II: MISSIONS DU COMITE NATIONAL DE PILOTAGE

- 8. <u>Article 2</u> : le Comité National de Pilotage (CNP) est un organe d'orientation, de supervision et de prise de décision du projet DGM. A ce titre, il est chargé de :
  - assurer la prise de décisions sur l'orientation générale et la coordination des interventions du Projet;
  - examiner et approuver les Plan de Travail et Budget Annuel (PTBA) et Plan de Passation des Marchés, ou tous autres documents pertinents présentés par la Cellule de Coordination du projet avant leur soumission à la Banque mondiale;
  - élaborer les critères d'admissibilité au financement compatibles avec les critères du cadre de directives opérationnelles contenus dans le Manuel d'exécution du DGM CI et soumettre à l'avis de non objection de la Banque mondiale;
  - examiner et décider du financement des projets éligibles ;
  - représenter le DGM CI aux rencontres importantes du PIF et sur le mécanisme REDD+, impactant la vie des communautés riveraines des FC;
  - lever des fonds par le biais d'autres programmes/ organismes, si possible ;
  - rendre compte, chaque semestre, des activités nationales DGM au Comité de Pilotage mondial;
  - représenter le Comité de Pilotage mondial dans le pays et participer à ses réunions ainsi qu'à ses activités au niveau international;
  - contribuer à la médiation du règlement des conflits liés aux propositions et exécution de projets du DGM, à travers le Mécanisme de Règlement des Plaintes de la REDD+, une médiation indépendante ou autres moyens de résolution;
  - examiner et valider les dossiers d'appels à propositions avant leur publication;
  - approuver les rapports d'activités et les rapports financiers périodiques du projet;
  - examiner les différents rapports d'évaluation du projet ;
  - veiller à la mise en œuvre des recommandations de l'Assemblée Générale, des missions de supervision et de suivi ainsi que des différents audits;
  - examiner tout dossier soumis à son approbation.

#### TITRE III: DE L'ACQUISITION ET DE LA PERTE DE LA QUALITE DE MEMBRE

#### **CHAPITRE I: ACQUISITION DE LA QUALITE DE MEMBRE DU CNP**

- 9. <u>Article 3</u>: le Comité National de Pilotage est composé de quinze (15) membres dont les membres à voix délibérative et des membres observateurs.
- 10. <u>Article 4</u>: les membres à voix délibérative sont au nombre de huit (08). Ils sont les Présidents régionaux des communautés locales des Régions ciblées par le projet PIF Banque mondiale.
- 11. <u>Article 5</u> : les Présidents régionaux sont choisis par leurs communautés suivant les critères du Comité de Pilotage International avec l'appui technique de la Banque mondiale. Ce sont :

Zone du centre : Gbèkè, Iffou, Moronou et N'zi.

Zone du Sud-ouest: Cavally, Guémon, Nawa et San-Pedro.

- 12. <u>Article 6</u>: tous les membres du CNP DGM CI sont nommés par un Arrêté interministériel initié par le Ministre en charge de l'Environnement.
- 13. <u>Article 7</u>: les membres Observateurs au nombre de sept (7) sont les Représentants du Gouvernement, de la société civile, du secteur privé et des ONG.
- 14. Article 8: Missions des Observateurs

Ils ont pour mission de :

- donner leur avis au cours des réunions du CNP sur la pertinence technique, la faisabilité opérationnelle et l'alignement des propositions sur les politiques nationales;
- aider le CNP à faire le lien entre les activités du DGM et les programmes pertinents de développement rural/gestion forestière du pays en vue de renforcer les synergies et explorer les possibilités de financement des activités. Ceci permettra au CNP de faire le lien avec les projets PIF, les comités nationaux ou régionaux REDD+ et les programmes sur les changements climatiques afin d'élargir la diffusion et de tirer avantage des différentes expériences;
- contribuer au processus de prise de décisions stratégiques du CNP mais n'ont pas droit au vote sur l'éligibilité des propositions de dons pour le financement du DGM.

#### CHAPITRE II: DE LA PERTE DE LA QUALITE DE MEMBRE.

- 15. Article 9 : La qualité de membre de présidents régionaux se perd par :
  - Démission
  - Décès ;
  - Dissolution du CNP-DGM.

En cas de démission, décès, il est remplacé par son Vice-Président régional.

#### TITRE IV: DROITS ET DEVOIRS DES MEMBRES DU CNP

#### **CHAPITRE PREMIER: DROITS ET OBLIGATIONS DES MEMBRES**

- 16. Article 10: Droits des membres
  - La qualité de Présidents régionaux et d'Observateurs confère le droit de prendre part à toutes les réunions, tous les ateliers et autres rencontres organisées dans le cadre des activités du CNP DGM CI tant au plan national qu'international ;
  - Les fonctions de membres du CNP sont bénévoles. Toutefois, pour la participation aux sessions du CNP, à une activité des partenaires au processus du DGM, les prises en charges se font conformément aux articles 12 et 18 de l'arrêté 26 du 19 janvier 2018 régissant les projets financés et cofinancés par la Banque mondiale en Côte d'Ivoire.
  - En cas d'organisation d'une activité, si les participants n'ont pas perçu leurs jetons de présence, le remboursement doit se faire dans les quinze (15) jours après la mission par l'équipe du Point Focal.
- 17. Article 11: Devoirs des membres
  - participer à toutes les réunions ou missions à eux confiées par le CNP ou tout partenaire au processus DGM;

- respecter scrupuleusement le règlement intérieur du CNP;
- contribuer à la bonne marche des activités du CNP;
- en cas d'indisponibilité d'un président de région pour l'une des deux réunions réglementaires du CNP, celui-ci donne procuration à un des présidents de régions;
- fournir un rapport circonstancié après chaque mission;
- être ponctuel aux réunions et à tous les rassemblements auxquels le CNP DGM est associé.

#### **CHAPITRE DEUXIEME: DISCIPLINE ET SANCTIONS**

#### 18. Article 12: Discipline

Toute violation du présent règlement intérieur, en particulier, ou des décisions du CNP, tout comportement de nature à ternir l'image/crédibilité ou à nuire au bon fonctionnement du CNP, en général, est susceptible des sanctions suivantes :

- Avertissement;
- Suspension.

#### 19. Article 13 : Mise à exécution de la sanction

Au cas où un membre aurait un comportement contraire aux objectifs du DGM, ou violerait une des dispositions du Règlement Intérieur, particulièrement celles de l'Article 11, une demande d'explication du Président du CNP lui sera adressée pour qu'il réponde de son acte.

Aucun membre du CNP ne peut faire l'objet de sanction s'il n'a reçu aucune demande d'explication.

20. <u>Article 14</u> : Sur proposition du Président, le Bureau Exécutif (BE), à la majorité absolue des voix des membres présents, peut avertir et suspendre tout membre fautif en attendant la décision de l'Assemblée Générale du CNP.

Le membre fautif, durant la période de suspension, cesse de participer aux activités du DGM.

#### **TITRE V: FONCTIONNEMENT DU CNP**

#### 21. Article 15: Sessions du CNP

Le CNP se réunit deux fois par an en sessions ordinaires sur convocation de son président et peut se réunir en sessions extraordinaires en cas de nécessité, et ce à la demande des 2/3 de ses membres.

#### 22. Article 16: l'ordre du jour

L'ordre du jour est arrêté par le Président et doit parvenir aux participants, par tout moyen de transmission, au moins une semaine avant la date de la tenue de la session, exception faite des cas d'urgence.

#### 23. Article 17: Délibérations

Le CNP délibère valablement sur toutes les questions portées à l'ordre du jour. Les décisions du CNP sont adoptées par consensus.

A défaut, les décisions sont prises à la majorité absolue (8/15) des membres présents.

Les délibérations sont prises à la majorité des voix des huit (8) Présidents régionaux pour le choix des microprojets. Ce nombre étant pair, la voix du Président du CNP est alors décisive en cas de parité.

- 24. <u>Article 18</u>: le CNP est présidé par un Président assisté par deux Vice-présidents. Le Président du CNP convoque et préside les réunions du comité et veille à leur régularité et leur bon déroulement.
- 25. <u>Article 19</u>: le CNP peut faire appel à toute personne ressource sur des questions spécifiques à examiner.
- 26. Article 20 : Le secrétariat du CNP est assuré par le Point Focal DGM. Il est chargé de l'organisation et

du rapportage des sessions du CNP.

Les documents de travail devront être communiqués aux membres une semaine avant la date de chaque réunion.

- 27. <u>Article 21</u> : les résolutions et recommandations des sessions sont consignées dans un Procès-Verbal dûment signé par le Président du CNP et le Secrétaire de séance.
- 28. Article 22 : le Président

Le Président convoque et préside les réunions ordinaires et extraordinaires du CNP. Il coordonne les activités du CNP. Il représente le CNP dans tous les actes de la vie civile et est investi de tous les pouvoirs à cet effet.

- 29. <u>Article 23</u>: le Président est élu pour un an renouvelable une fois. Son mandat prend fin au 31 décembre de l'année en cours. La durée maximale du mandat d'un président est de 2 ans par personne.
- 30. Article 24 : les Vice-présidents

Le Premier Vice-président chargé de l'administration.

Le Deuxième Vice-président chargé de .

En cas d'absence ou d'indisponibilité du Président, son intérim est assuré par l'un des Vice-présidents.

#### **TITRE VII: DISPOSITIONS FINALES**

#### 31. Article 25 : Modifications du règlement intérieur

Le règlement intérieur peut être modifié à la demande des 2/3 des membres du CNP et examiné en session extraordinaire ou à l'une des deux sessions ordinaires.

Le Président du CNP est chargé de l'application du présent Règlement intérieur qui sera communiqué et diffusé à tous les membres du CNP.

Fait et adopté à l'atelier du 31 juillet au 02 août 2018 à Yamoussoukro.

#### Le Secrétaire Général

Le Président

**TOHE Blaise** 

SARE Play Christophe

#### APPENDIX D: ECONOMIC/FINANCIAL AND COBENEFITS ANALYSIS

#### DEDICATED GRANT MECHANISM FOR LOCAL COMMUNITIES - Côte d'Ivoire

- 1. According to the study "Classifying drivers of global forest loss," <sup>14</sup> more than a quarter of the loss of global tree cover between 2001 and 2015 was associated with commodity-driven deforestation and will not likely be forested again. Globally, nearly 27 percent of all forest disturbances between 2001 and 2015 was associated with commodity-driven deforestation, with the rate of 5 million hectares per annum. Forestry represented about 26 percent of total forest disturbance, followed by shifting agriculture (24 percent) and wildfire (23 percent).
- 2. A recent study into the drivers of deforestation and forest degradation in Côte d'Ivoire (BNETD 2016) reported that the country's forest cover declined from 7.85 million ha in 1990 to 5.09 million ha in 2000, with an annual loss rate of 4.32 percent. In 2015, forests covered 11 percent of the country (3.4 million ha), with an annual deforestation rate of 2.7 percent between 2000 and 2015. The average forest loss between 1990 and 2015 is estimated as 0.25 million ha/year.
- 3. The surface area covered by gazetted forests (GF) declined from 2.13 million ha in 1990 to 0.84 million ha in 2015. The annual deforestation rate in GFs increased in the last 15 years, reaching 4.2 percent during the period between 2000 and 2015, compared to 3 percent between 1990 and 2000. Forest cover in protected areas and reserves, estimated at 1.41 million ha in 1990, was estimated at 1.32 million ha in 2015, with an annual deforestation rate of 0.3 percent during the period 2000-15. 15
- 4. To address the growing deforestation trend, Côte d'Ivoire received funding under the Forest Investment Program (FIP) to facilitate the reduction of deforestation and forest degradation and to promote sustainable management of forests. This DGM project contributes to the implementation of the FIP in Côte d'Ivoire. There are strong linkages between project objectives and the UN SDGs, as well as poverty reduction efforts, reduction of deforestation, and former and ongoing programs and investments implemented in the country.
- 5. Existing practice demonstrates that reforestation projects deliver many environmental benefits beyond GHG reductions. These develop further as more trees are planted and existing trees mature. Benefits include improvement of soil quality and reduced soil erosion, improvement of water catchment areas, increased groundwater recharge, increase in vegetation cover (which minimizes surface runoff and improves infiltration), and enhanced biodiversity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Philip G. Curtis, Christy M. Slay, Nancy L. Harris, Alexandra Tyukavina, and Matthew C. Hansen, "Classifying drivers of global forest loss," *Science* (2018): September 14, 1108-1111.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> UNDP, Forest Friendly Cocoa in Côte d'Ivoire, (2017), http://www.undp.org/content/dam/gp-commodities/docs/UNDP GCP %20Forest%20Friendly%20Cocoa%20Note%202017.pdf

- 6. **Economic analysis.** Measurable benefits will be generated from successful implementation of Component 2 of this project. The project will finance performance-based agroforestry and afforestation subprojects through: (i) initial supply of seedlings to individuals or communities engaged in the DGM; (ii) subgrants payments triggered by, first, introduction of a certain number of plants onto landholdings (for example, 50 to 100 per hectare, on the basis of a fixed price per planted tree) and by, second, survival rate at the end of a specified period (up to five years); and (iii) long-term tree conservation. The subprojects will include: (i) agroforestry operations involving the introduction of trees, including ones of nutritional value, onto cocoa, rubber, palm oil and vegetable farms; and (ii) village afforestation or reforestation and planting of trees with nutritional value. The subprojects will be selected biannually by the NEA.
- 7. Given the demand-driven nature of this project, selection of the subprojects on a rolling basis, and uncertainty about many input variables, a cost-benefit analysis cannot be fully done at this stage. Therefore, economic analysis is based on the assessments conducted under the baseline Côte d'Ivoire FIP and previous operations, as well as on relevant studies on similar interventions in the region and country.
- 8. Cost-benefit analysis conducted during preparation of Côte d'Ivoire FIP indicates that the project interventions implemented in the same areas as those targeted by the DGM are economically feasible and will generate significant and positive benefits. FIP project interventions will ensure successful implementation of the DGM through participatory development and implementation of GF management plans, creation of GF governance frameworks, conduct of reforestation programs, use of agroforestry contracts with existing cocoa farmers in GFs, and promotion of partnerships between local communities and the private sector. FIP-specific interventions include similar landscape-level activities (such as performance-based agroforestry and afforestation schemes) to those supported under DGM. Therefore, FIP analysis is applicable.
- 9. **Direct benefits.** The project's direct benefits include reduction of GHG emissions, increased income and poverty reduction, including for the most vulnerable segments of the population, reduction of soil erosion, improved water regime and optimized soil nutrition regime, and improved biodiversity conservation. Benefits accounted for in the FIP economic analysis included:
- Carbon and climate benefits the lower carbon price ranging from US\$15 in 2015 to US\$50 in 2050; the conservative value of climate regulation benefits at US\$50/ha/annum;
- Assumed watershed values following a conservative approach, estimated at US\$27/ha/annum;<sup>16</sup>
- Estimates of the value of medical bioprospecting for Tai National Park at US\$25.61/ha/annum; and
- Estimated livelihood and poverty alleviation income increase of one percent or US\$11 received by people impacted by project activities (345,000).
- 10. FIP economic analysis simulation demonstrated that the net present value (NPV) and the benefit-cost

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The Changing Wealth of Nations – Measuring Sustainable Development in the New Millennium, (2011)

ratio yielded positive results under different discount rate scenarios, even for situations where carbon benefits were excluded. The NPV for the lowest case scenario (without carbon benefits, 20 percent discount rate) was US\$28.4 million with a benefit-cost ratio of 4.18.

- 11. The DGM project will contribute to the area under FIP implementation, which is expected to result in a total of 20,000 hectares of reforested land and agroforest and 226,386 hectares of improved forest management and surface area under GF management through Public Private Partnerships (PPP). For the area of afforested and new agroforestry areas, the economic value of incremental benefit is assessed at 100 percent, since the "without project" situation is "no forest". Because the FIP economic assessment included only direct improvement of forest area, it is reasonable to suggest that few assumptions made in this analysis could also be applied to DGM.
- 12. Thus, assumptions under the DGM economic analysis included the same ones as in the FIP area under reforestation: the value of climate benefits and watershed services; and the number of beneficiaries. These follow two scenarios: the first one being the same as in FIP; and the second one being 30 percent of the FIP beneficiaries (as a proportion of the DGM grant to the amount of FIP). Benefits of bioprospecting in the Tai National Park were not accounted for in the analysis.
- 13. The simulation generated positive results at the 6 percent discount rate scenario and assuming only 30 percent of the FIP beneficiaries received assistance under DGM. The benefit/cost ratio accounting for all benefits delivered under the project is assessed at 8.9, and the Net Present Value (NPV) is positive, at US\$30.1 million. Without climate benefits at 6 percent discount rate the benefits cost ratio is 5.5 and NPV is assessed at US\$19.9 million. (See Table G.1 below).

**Table 1: Summary of Economic Simulation Results** 

	Without climate benefits			All benefits			30% FIP beneficiaries, Without climate benefits			30% beneficiaries, benefits		FIP All
Discount rates	6%	10%	20%	6%	10%	20%	%	10%	20%	6%	10%	20%
NPV, US\$ million	44.7	28.2	13.6	57.2	36.6	18.4	19.9	10.2	4.5	30.1	18.7	9.3
B/C ratio	12.4	9.5	6.03	15.67	11.7	7.8	5.5	3.8	2.7	8.9	6.5	4.5

14. Qualitative analysis was limited to the values that can be attributed to the project but cannot be quantified. Thus, as in FIP, additional benefits may arise from biodiversity conservation related to decreased pressure on native forests, improved soil quality and reduced erosion, economic benefits

resulting from sustainable cocoa production, better land use planning, and promotion of partnerships between local communities and the private sector.

- 15. Capacity-building and technical training on agroforestry, restoration, and REDD+ activities will bring certain intangible benefits which may result in improved technical understanding of reforestation and agroforestry, and improved forest and land management practices to the beneficiaries of FIP and REDD+ processes. Technical training and building of partnerships between the private sector and beneficiaries in the long-term will result in increased income levels in local communities. This training is expected to lead to improved land management skills, and increased resilience for the participating members and their households.
- 16. Moreover, project interventions aimed at building PPPs with cocoa producers will have long-term benefits. Sustainable cocoa production through climate-smart practices could enhance the climate resilience and incomes of smallholders, while contributing to forest protection and prevention of soil erosion.

## APPENDIX E: MAP OF PROJECT SITE IN CÔTE D'IVOIRE

